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Intelligent Energy aims to deliver economically efficient, clean‑energy 
technology for the automotive, consumer electronics and distributed 
power and generation markets. This encompasses:

 � the development and licensing of core technology for use in its customers’ 
powertrains and development plans in the automotive arena;

 � the development of compact energy solutions for mobile devices; and

 � a power management solution for distributed power applications 
that combines existing generation techniques with a route to 
introduce the Group’s proprietary fuel cell technology.
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Highlights

Fund raising activity generated £31.8m 
(US$51m), resulting in the largest year‑end 
cash position in the Group’s history.

Wholly‑owned subsidiary Essential Energy 
set up in India as a route to market for 
Intelligent Energy’s newly rebranded 
Distributed Power and Generation 
(formerly Stationary Power) division.

Fuel cell systems delivered to one of the 
Group’s Motive customers, a European 
Premium Car Maker. A fuel cell prototype 
vehicle incorporating these systems 
was successfully demonstrated to the 
customer’s Board of Directors and other 
senior managers in November 2013.

A successful trial with telecom carrier 
Etisalat took place in Nigeria using the 
Group’s consumer electronics product.

Upp™, a personal energy device and 
the Group’s first consumer electronics 
product, was launched at the AfricaCom 
World Series event in Cape Town in 
November 2013 (www.beupp.com).

Industry‑leading power densities were 
announced for Intelligent Energy’s 
Evaporatively‑Cooled technology.

SMILE FC System Corporation (a joint 
venture between Intelligent Energy 
and the Suzuki Motor Corporation) 
completed a ready‑to‑scale production 
line for its fuel cell systems.
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Intelligent Energy’s commercialisation strategy

Intelligent Energy consists of three business divisions with 

global revenue opportunities and common R&D platforms. 

Building on a strong intellectual property portfolio, its strategy 

is based on a three‑fold approach in order to deliver maximum 

return to its shareholders:

 � Flexible business model

 � “Design once, deploy many times” philosophy

 � Balanced focus of markets 

Flexible business model

Intelligent Energy operates a flexible business model to enable 

the Group to adapt its business to the differing needs of each 

of its divisions and to the macro‑economic climate as a whole.

Working closely with its Original Equipment Manufacturer 

(OEM) customers, manufacturing partners and suppliers, 

the Group combines its expertise in fuel cell technology 

design with its partners’ manufacturing capabilities and 

well‑established routes to market to create efficient, 

low‑carbon solutions for the global mass markets in which it 
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Figure 1: Global access to bulk rate electricity

operates. The Group’s class‑leading technology, designed 

for series manufacture, offers its customers both reduced 

time‑to‑market and lower commercialisation scale‑up risks.

In its Motive division, the Group’s commercial partnering 

focused approach ranges from partnership to full licensing 

agreements, enabling its technology to be transferred 

to customers. Joint ventures also feature, for instance, 

with Intelligent Energy having established SMILE FC 

System Corporation, a joint venture with the Suzuki Motor 

Corporation, in February 2012. In addition, the Group works 

closely with a number of global automotive OEMs under 

non‑disclosure agreements.

As the world population continues to grow, particularly in 

the developing world, forecast to reach 9 billion by 2040, 

the increased demand for accessible electricity will reflect 

this population growth (figure 1). Due to the lack of fixed 

infrastructure in these areas, grid access is unreliable at best 

and non‑existent at worst and as such, off‑grid solutions 

to satisfy the increased demand from the consumer will 

become invaluable. In comparison, the population of 

the developed world, which is expected to remain stable 

between now and 2040, has access to bulk‑rate electricity at 

a far more affordable cost than in the developing world. 
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Intelligent Energy’s commercialisation strategy

There are many challenges and significant investment 

required, in providing distributed power solutions for the 

increasing number of people with disposable income in 

developing countries. Through its innovative technology 

and power management approach, Intelligent Energy is 

well placed to provide a leading role in providing affordable, 

reliable and accessible power to address the inevitable 

increasing demand. 

With its current target primarily on India, the Group’s 

Distributed Power and Generation division has established 

Essential Energy India as a route to market for the Group’s 

technology. At the present time, Indian telecom tower 

infrastructure companies predominantly use diesel generators 

together with batteries for their energy needs. Energy 

costs for these companies are significant and growing as a 

consequence of increasing diesel prices and concerns over 

the environmental impact of diesel generators and, as a 

result, these companies are now seeking alternative methods 

of power management to reduce costs whilst improving 

operating performance. 

With a focus on providing the most effective solution on a 

tower‑by‑tower basis and offering long‑term agreements that 

effectively manage cost for the customer, Essential Energy 

will launch its proposition with the intention to initially work 

with two of India’s tower infrastructure providers. For the first, 

Essential Energy, through a wholly‑owned Group operating 

company, is expected to take ownership of the provider’s 

existing power generation assets, operating and maintaining 

these utilising partnerships with existing service providers. 

The second is a new entrant into the market utilising power 

distribution towers as telecom towers and for whom Essential 

Energy expects to provide and operate all new power 

generation assets. It is anticipated that Essential Energy will 

utilise the capabilities within the Intelligent Energy Group 

to deploy its core engine health monitoring and fuel cell 

technologies over time to increase barriers to entry, improve 

operating assets and significantly reduce site operating costs.

It is expected that the long‑term contracts will generate 

regular and sustainable revenue for Essential Energy, while 

enabling the tower infrastructure providers to reduce their 

total cost of ownership. Over time, as existing assets require 

replacing, the Group plans to select the most appropriate 

replacement technology and, in the medium term, intends to 

introduce its fuel cell technology as an alternative to diesel 

generators for back‑up and grid replacement power. Looking 

ahead, the Group aims to grow Essential Energy in India by 

working with other Indian telecom infrastructure providers 

using the same business proposition. 

Initially, the Group’s Consumer Electronics division operates 

a Business‑to‑Business‑to‑Consumer model rather than a 

licensing model. It collaborates with telecom carriers to offer 

its personal energy system Upp™ to their end customers, with 

the aim of increasing Average Revenue Per User (ARPU) and 

profitability for the telecom carriers. The telecom carriers’ end 

customers are expected to benefit from a reliable, off‑grid 

method to power and charge smart phones and other portable 

devices. They are also expected to benefit from being provided 

with a week’s worth of power between fuel refills, with more 

energy being delivered with larger capacity refills combined 

with fast recharging. The initial market focus for both 

Consumer Electronics and Distributed Power and Generation is 

on those people in emerging economies who have disposable 

income, are in need of increased amounts of power but suffer 

from mains grid instability. 

Design once, deploy many times

A key and continuing element of the Group’s strategy is the 

philosophy, “Design once, deploy many times”. With a flexible 

and scalable design architecture and a proven, modular 

production capability, the Group’s clean power technology 

is suited to a wide range of power applications. Designed for 

high‑volume, low‑cost manufacturing, it can be utilised across 

multiple applications and all of its business divisions.

Balanced focus of markets

Intelligent Energy works in three opportunity‑rich markets: 

Motive, Distributed Power and Generation and Consumer 

Electronics. Both the Motive and Consumer Electronics markets 

are global, while the initial focus for the Distributed Power and 

Generation division is India, a country with large numbers of 

telecom towers requiring dependable power. 
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All three market segments have large growth opportunities 

and offer significant potential to generate revenue for the 

Group. This balanced approach reduces risk and ensures 

that the Group is not wholly dependent on any single target 

market. With each segment experiencing different market 

cycles, the Group is less susceptible to short‑term problems in 

any single market.

Intellectual Property 

Intellectual Property (IP) is the life blood of the Group’s 

clean‑power technology and a material barrier to market entry 

for potential competitors. With over 550 patents either granted 

or pending approval (compared to 448 patents reported in 

2012), the business continues to invest heavily in research and 

development in fuel cell technology.

Irrespective of application, Intelligent Energy’s fuel cell 

systems contain common core elements of IP that have been 

developed and are fully owned by the Group. These include:

 � proprietary fuel cell stack design;

 � systems architecture and integration;

 � software libraries for power management, technology 

insertion, hybridisation, balance of plant and smart grids;

 � predictive asset management and remote system health 

monitoring; and

 � proprietary reforming technologies that interface with 

existing fuel infrastructures.

Consumer
Electronics

<100W

Motive

1kW–
200kW+

Distributed Power
& Generation

1kW–
20kW

Target market segments
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Chairman’s review

Paul Heiden
CHAIRMAN

At the end of my first year as Chairman of 

Intelligent Energy, I look back on 12 months 

of progress, challenges and hard work. 

I am pleased to be able to point to a number of highlights 

during the past financial year, including the Statement of 

Intent signed with Indian Oil to work together to develop 

the use of hydrogen in a range of fuel cell systems for 

the Indian market, the collaboration and field trials in 

Nigeria with telecom provider Etisalat for our consumer 

electronics product Upp™ and the first trial order from a 

third‑party global business for this product. In addition, 

the completion of the ready‑to‑scale manufacturing line 

at the SMILE FC System Corporation facility in Yokohama 

in less than one year from the establishment of the joint 

venture between Intelligent Energy and the Suzuki Motor 

Corporation is a remarkable effort and testament to the 

hard work and commitment of everyone involved. 

The announcements made in 2013 detailing our high stack 

power densities, and also the increased system power density 

reported as a result of the collaborative work undertaken 

with Dyson Technology and others, demonstrate that the 

Group’s fuel cell technology is amongst the very best in the 

world. Additionally, the Group’s Motive division has delivered 

on its commitment to supply several fuel cell systems to its 

customer, a European Premium Car Maker, for evaluation and 

incorporation into that customer’s demonstration vehicle. 

A contract manufacturing base was established in Asia 

and collaboration with partners led to enhanced levels of 

capability for the manufacture and supply of fuel for the 

consumer electronics product. A subsidiary, Essential Energy, 

was set up in India in order to service the power management 

needs of the Indian telecom market and thereby facilitate 

the expected growth of the Group’s Distributed Power and 

Generation division. 

However as expected in the last annual report, the Group’s 

EBITDA trading performance was below that of FY 2011/12 due 

to the anticipated phasing of licence revenues in the Motive 

division and the planned investment required to launch the 

Group’s Consumer Electronics and Distributed Power and 

Generation divisions. 

In last year’s report, I indicated that the Group would need to raise 

further money in order to fund the on‑going development of the 

business, including the activities of the newly formed Distributed 

Power and Generation and Consumer Electronics divisions. 

Although we succeeded in securing £31.8m (US$51m) in capital ‑ 

the largest fund raising to date ‑ the process was more complex, 

challenging and time‑consuming than originally anticipated, 

contributing to delays in launching the two new divisions. 

Furthermore, while this round of funding is sufficient for the 

launch of the Distributed Power and Generation and Consumer 

Electronics divisions, the Group will need to raise additional funds 

in 2014 to underpin its plans to continue their development.

In my inaugural statement 12 months ago, I also expressed my 

intention to reinforce the corporate governance of the Group. 

This is being achieved in a number of stages, including the 

formation of an Audit Committee, comprising initially of all of the 

members of the Intelligent Energy Board. This Committee, which 

was formed in September 2013, has amongst other matters, 

begun the process of reviewing all material policies of the Group. 

The strengthening of the Board during the previous reporting 

year, which included the addition of three non‑executive 

directors and the appointment of a new chief financial officer, 

has resulted in improved levels of Board effectiveness. The 

quality of Board submissions has increased and there is greater 

focus on the key issues affecting the Group, particularly risk 

management. This tightening of corporate governance aligns 

the Group more closely with best practice and the governance 

activities of companies listed on a public exchange and will be a 

continued journey for Intelligent Energy in FY 2013/14.

Finally, in reviewing the progress made during the last financial 

year, I would like to recognise the perseverance and commitment 

of Intelligent Energy’s people around the world in delivering a 

range of challenging projects to our demanding, world‑class 

customers, and also to thank them for their contribution. It 

is critical that we continue to work as a team to develop and 

mature the business and to maintain this momentum in the 

next 12 months as the Group, together with its customers and 

partners, continues the market entry and commercialisation of 

its technologies and the implementation of its business plans.

Paul Heiden Chairman
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Review of business divisions

Motive division update 

Market background

Over the last 12 months, there has been considerable 

activity in the automotive industry surrounding the 

development and imminent commercialisation of Fuel 

Cell Electric Vehicles (FCEVs). Many of the world’s leading 

automotive OEMs have publicly declared their intention 

to bring FCEVs to market between 2015 and 2020. While 

it is anticipated that, as with any new technology, initial 

volumes will be relatively small, the number of FCEVs 

is expected to ramp up significantly over time. 

National roll‑out plans for hydrogen refuelling stations 

are also advancing globally. During the past year, plans 

have been announced to build 100 hydrogen fuelling 

stations in California by 20141, 100 in Japan by 20152 and 

400 stations in Germany starting from 20153. This is 

largely the result of a growing number of public‑private 

industry collaborative programmes around the world 

which are focused on the introduction of FCEVs and 

associated infrastructure in the near to medium term. 

Progress

There is growing recognition that fuel cells are one of the 

few clean‑power technologies for transportation which 

can provide the required mix of performance, emission 

reduction and range, as well as having the potential to be 

price‑competitive at volume. Recognised for being one of the 

leading independent suppliers of fuel cell technologies to its 

partners and customers, Intelligent Energy’s Motive division 

continues to see growing levels of interest for its technology 

from the automotive market and is engaged in discussion with 

a number of additional automotive OEMs.

With a 25‑year history of fuel cell development and a proven 

partnering business model, the Group is well‑placed to 

offer an accelerated, low‑risk and cost‑competitive route 

to market to automotive OEMs irrespective of whether 

they are engaged in their own in‑house programmes. The 

Group’s Motive division offers several routes for customers 

to engage, including technology licensing, joint ventures, 

joint development programmes, project‑based work and the 

provision of engineering services.

During the year under review, the Motive division performed 

strongly against its targets, both in terms of revenue and 

margin, and also delivered on its contractual commitments to 

its two main customers, the Suzuki Motor Corporation and a 

European Premium Car Maker (”EPCM”). 

Suzuki Motor Corporation / SMILE FC System Corporation 

joint venture

The on‑going partnership between the Suzuki Motor 

Corporation and Intelligent Energy provides significant 

validation of the Group’s technology. Over the past financial 

year, Intelligent Energy has continued to enjoy close 

collaboration with Suzuki in the move towards fuel cell 

commercialisation as the two parties work together to further 

develop fuel cell systems for market launch.

As part of the existing licence agreement signed with Suzuki 

in 2011, the Group received the fourth and final payment in 

September 2013 in recognition of completing the formal 

programme of technology transfer.

Following the February 2012 formation of SMILE FC System 

Corporation, a Joint Venture (JV) between Intelligent Energy 

and Suzuki, a ready‑to‑scale production line was 

commissioned in February 2013. The completion of this fully 

tested and operational line within a year of establishment 

of the JV marks a significant milestone on the way to the full 

production and commercial sale of fuel cell vehicles. This 

achievement also validates Intelligent Energy’s strategy of 

rapid and effective technology transfer and, going forward, it 

offers a reference project for on‑going and future sales activity.

Further technology transfer and development support 

between Intelligent Energy and Suzuki will continue in 

FY 2013/14 to assist Suzuki and the SMILE FC System joint 

venture towards full production of fuel cell systems.
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Review of business divisions

European Premium Car Maker 

Intelligent Energy has been working with a European Premium 

Car Maker (“EPCM”) since March 2012, and in the last year 

the business has won the customer’s global benchmarking 

competition against other fuel cell technology providers. 

During the year under review, work has continued at pace with 

the EPCM, with Intelligent Energy having completed phase 1 

of the contracted development agreement. The second phase 

of the project, which will continue until mid‑2014, has involved 

the development of a number of fuel cell systems and the 

incorporation of these in a high‑profile fuel cell demonstrator 

vehicle belonging to the customer. In November 2013, this 

prototype vehicle was successfully demonstrated to the 

customer’s Board of Directors and other senior managers.

Fuel cell electric taxis

Intelligent Energy’s fleet of fuel cell electric taxis 

continues to operate under the Hydrogen Technology 

in European Cities (HyTEC) project. Following the 

successful deployment of the fuel cell taxis during the 

London 2012 Olympic Games, the vehicles have been 

operating in London and accumulating mileage as a 

part of the programme’s durability testing requirements. 

The taxis will continue to run until the end of 2014.

Power density

Over the past 12 months, Intelligent Energy has 

continued to push the boundaries of fuel cell technology, 

reporting its highest power densities achieved so far 

for its Evaporatively‑Cooled (EC) technology. Having 

benchmarked these results against other known 

competitors, the Group considers that its EC technology 

provides industry‑leading levels of power output 

and performance in the automotive market.

In April 2013, Intelligent Energy, together with partners 

Dyson, Ricardo UK and TRW Conekt, announced that they 

had delivered an enhanced fuel cell system with an increase 

in system power density of more than 30 per cent, without 

increasing system mass or size.

More information on the Group’s power density achievements 

can be found in the Chief Technology Officer’s review on 

page 20.

Wider automotive environment 

To ensure the successful commercialisation of FCEVs, an 

accompanying roll‑out of hydrogen refuelling infrastructure is 

required. For this to happen, wider industry and government 

involvement is critical. Intelligent Energy is actively involved 

in a number of public‑private initiatives, which have been 

established in different countries around the world to 

encourage the implementation of a hydrogen network in 

those countries. These programmes provide an opportunity 

for the Group to influence the pace of FCEV and infrastructure 

development, to raise the Group’s profile alongside its OEM 

and government partners and also to facilitate commercial 

opportunities between Intelligent Energy and its project 

partners. 

The Group is a founder member of UK H2Mobility, which brings 

together leading businesses from the automotive, energy, 

infrastructure and retail sectors with the UK Government. 

In February 2013, the UK H2Mobility consortium published 

a comprehensive report which included a roadmap for the 

introduction of FCEVs and hydrogen refuelling infrastructure and 

identified the potential for 1.6 million hydrogen powered vehicles 

to be on Britain’s roads by 20304. In March 2013, the UK H2Mobility 

project also began to work on an implementation plan for the 

introduction of hydrogen refuelling stations in the UK.

Intelligent Energy has continued to be actively involved in the 

latest stage of the H2 Mobility project in Germany which, in 

September 2013, announced an action plan for the construction 

of a hydrogen refuelling network from 2015, covering an 

estimated 400 refuelling stations, to be built across Germany 

with an overall investment of approximately £298m over a 

number of years. 

In July 2013, the Group joined the Hydrogen Mobility France 

consortium which was established to produce a plan to 

develop a private and public hydrogen refuelling infrastructure 

in France between 2015 and 2030. 

In August 2013, H2USA, the public‑private partnership to 

promote hydrogen infrastructure and deploy FCEVs in the 

United States, was launched. While Intelligent Energy is 

currently not a member of this partnership, it intends to 

monitor the programme’s progress in order to take advantage 

of opportunities which may arise in the future and use its 

long‑standing Californian presence (Intelligent Energy, Inc.) to 

collaboratively focus efforts in that state.
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Also in August 2013, the UK Government published Driving Success: 

A strategy for growth and sustainability in the UK automotive sector 

which included the establishment of an Advanced Propulsion 

Centre (APC) for the development and commercialisation of 

new automotive powertrain technologies for use in low‑carbon 

vehicles in the UK, supported by £1bn in Government funding 

over a 10‑year period. As a member of the working party of 

the APC through its membership of the Automotive Council, 

Intelligent Energy expects to play a leading role in the APC and 

gain recognition as a leading non‑OEM fuel cell technology 

provider amongst the other, mainly OEM, partners.

1 http://www.greencarreports.com/news/1086986_california‑gets‑serious‑about‑funding‑
hydrogen‑fueling‑stations

2 http://www.fuelcelldispatch.com/AutomotivePower/tabid/2704/articleType/ArticleView/
articleId/504/Japan‑eyes‑building‑100‑hydrogen‑stations‑by‑2015‑for‑fuel‑cell‑cars.aspx

3 http://www.greencarcongress.com/2013/09/20130930‑h2mob.html

4 UK H2Mobility Project Phase 1 Results, April 2013 
http://www.ukh2mobility.co.uk/wp‑content/uploads/2013/08/UKH2‑Mobility‑Phase‑1‑
Results‑April‑2013.pdf

Distributed Power and 
Generation division update

Market background

The Distributed Power and Generation division continues to 

target the Indian telecom market as its initial focus.

Demand for telecom in India is rapidly growing, with the 

number of subscribers at 951 million today, and expected 

to reach 1bn by 2013/145. To serve this demand, India has 

approximately 425,000 cell towers6, with a further 100,000 

expected to be required by 20157. However, around 70 per cent 

of all cell towers are without grid power for eight hours or 

more per day8. 

Due to this unreliable electrical power grid, tower infrastructure 

companies use diesel generators, batteries and a variety of 

power management equipment to back up or in effect, replace 

the grid and ensure network availability. With over 2.6 billion 

litres of diesel being consumed by generators annually (the 

majority of the diesel being imported at high cost to the Indian 

economy), and with these generators producing 7 million 

metric tonnes of CO2 emissions9 in addition to highly polluting 

particulates, it is clear that improved power management 

methods are needed both in terms of cost and improving the 

environment.

Indian telecom companies have traditionally focused on 

the delivery of telecom services and as such, the power 

management of assets at tower sites has not been optimised. 

The sole focus of these companies is power availability to 

maintain telecom tower uptime; they are unconcerned with the 

technology used. The cell towers themselves are owned by a 

relatively small number of infrastructure companies.

This situation has provided the opportunity for 

Intelligent Energy to enter the Indian market with a power 

management and services offering, using a relatively low‑risk 

but high‑volume approach. Over time and in several phases, 

this is expected to create the demand, and a route to market for 

the Group’s fuel cell technology. 

Progress

In the last fiscal year, following the earlier field trials of 

its fuel cells reported in the Group’s 2012 annual report, 

Intelligent Energy analysed the operating activities of over 500 

telecom sites to assess and quantify the potential benefits to be 

derived from the Group itself operating these sites in line with 

its commercial strategy. 

The Group has identified the immediate opportunity to provide 

a range of power management services (using an assortment 

of technologies) to the telecom infrastructure companies. This 

is expected to generate an immediate revenue stream, which is 

predicted to grow as more customers are acquired. In the longer 

term, it is anticipated that this position in the market will create 

a platform for introducing the Group’s fuel cell technology, 

which will replace diesel generators at the majority of sites.
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In order to realise this opportunity, during the financial 

year, Intelligent Energy established a wholly‑owned energy 

service company in India, called Essential Energy India PVT 

Ltd. As a power management business, Essential Energy 

intends to work with telecom infrastructure companies to 

provide all of their power needs, using the most appropriate 

technology for those customers’ on‑site power requirements. 

In June 2013, the Group announced a Memorandum of 

Understanding (MoU) with Indian telecom infrastructure 

provider Microqual Techno Limited. As a result of this 

MoU, and an agreement signed in September 2013, a 

partnering arrangement between the two companies was 

established where Microqual is expected to provide telecom 

infrastructure using equipment mounted on existing power 

transmission towers in India and Essential Energy intends to 

provide the complete back‑up power solution to power the 

telecom equipment at these sites.

Furthermore the Group intends to work with other 

infrastructure providers in India and plans to secure power 

management contracts at many more sites and for more 

customers in the near future.

By acquiring, replacing, operating and maintaining 

customers’ power assets, Essential Energy intends to 

manage power equipment more efficiently, thereby 

making immediate energy and operational improvements, 

and as a result helping the telecom companies to save an 

estimated 20 per cent or more of today’s costs of generating 

power. Tower sites will be optimised for use by eliminating 

inefficiencies through the replacement of out‑of‑date 

equipment and also by introducing monitoring tools, 

developed by Intelligent Energy’s Asset Management 

and Business Information Systems department, in order 

to reduce site visits. In the medium to longer term, with 

demand already created, fuel cells are expected to be 

introduced to the telecom tower sites. It is anticipated that 

over time, emissions will be significantly reduced as fuel 

cells become more prevalent and the number of diesel 

generators decreases. 

In order to provide hydrogen for these fuel cell powered 

systems, Essential Energy plans to work with partners in 

its target market regions, such as Indian Oil as reported in 

last year’s annual report, to ensure the cost‑competitive 

availability of the fuel.

While Essential Energy’s immediate revenue is expected 

to come directly from the power management services it 

provides to the Indian telecom infrastructure companies, in 

the longer term it is anticipated that as joint ventures and 

licence agreements are set up for fuel cell manufacture, 

income will also be generated through royalty agreements 

and attributable revenues via such licence agreements.

Once established, this model of operations can be extended 

to new geographies and other market segments requiring 

distributed power. Whilst India remains the initial launch 

market for the Distributed Power and Generation division, 

other markets are being investigated. Intelligent Energy’s 

fuel cell technology is best suited for back‑up or prime power 

rather than emergency power, that is, the best economic 

performance is gained if the system is actually used rather 

than employed as an insurance policy. This makes the 

technology ideal for areas with weak or no power grids. 

Markets with similar or longer power requirements to India 

such as the Middle East and Africa are under investigation. 

5 Greenpeace, Enabling Green Talking, August 2012, 
http://www.greenpeace.org/india/Global/india/report/Enabling‑Clean‑Talking.pdf

6 http://www.gits4u.com/envo/envo31.htm

7 Greenpeace, Enabling Green Talking, August 2012 
http://www.greenpeace.org/india/Global/india/report/Enabling‑Clean‑Talking.pdf

8 Adoption of Green Technology and Safety of Wireless Network by Milan Jain (Sr. 
Research Eng. – Converged Network, TRAI)

9 Intelligent Energy calculation based on 2.1 litres diesel usage’s per hour and 8 hours 
outage per day for 425,000 towers. From Intelligent Energy’s white paper Green 
Solutions for Telecom Towers Part I, March 2013. 
http://www.intelligent‑energy.com/media/uploads/green_solutions_for_telecom_
towers_part_1.pdf

Review of business divisions
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Consumer Electronics division update

Market background

Mobile devices have revolutionised the way in which 

people interact with the world around them and with one 

another. Today, three‑quarters of the world’s population 

enjoy regular access to a mobile phone10. The ubiquity 

and affordability of powerful smart phones, tablets and 

other devices have made it easier for people to conduct 

business, socialise with friends and family and access new 

information. In little over a decade, the number of mobile 

device subscriptions worldwide has grown from under 

one billion to more than six billion11, with nearly five billion 

of these in the developing world. The impact of mobile 

devices is particularly noticeable in developing countries, 

where such devices are bringing the information age to 

areas where mobile access has never existed before with the 

potential to radically improve both the prosperity of national 

economies and the livelihoods of individuals.

While mobile devices continue to grow in capability and power 

requirements, the batteries needed to power them lag behind. 

While for some people the need to monitor and recharge 

their batteries is an inconvenience, for many – particularly 

in emerging markets – it can mean a loss of productivity, a 

decreased sense of security and an inability to stay connected 

when it is most needed. Access to basic banking services, 

including the sending and receiving of money through mobile 

phones, is already commonplace in some African countries 

and the practice is being quickly adopted in other parts of 

the continent and in other developing countries. As such, it 

is becoming more important than ever for people to have 

reliable access to mobile communications and a fast means of 

recharging their mobile phones. 

As an example of this recent and rapidly growing trend, 

Kenya has been one of the earliest champions of mobile 

communications in Africa, with an estimated 31 per cent of 

Kenya’s GDP being spent through mobile phones12. 93 per cent 

of Kenyans are phone users and 73 per cent are mobile money 

customers. 23 per cent use mobile money at least once per 

day. According to the World Bank, “the mobile revolution 

has transformed the lives of Kenyans, providing not just 

communications but also basic financial access in the form of 

phone‑based money transfer and storage” 13.

People in the developed world can usually rely on the 

electricity grid to recharge their mobile devices. However, 

many in the developing world live with inadequate 

infrastructure that cannot be relied upon to provide 

electricity when it is most needed, or they may have no 

access to the electricity infrastructure at all. Some 1.6 billion 

The Upp personal energy device
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How often do mobile users find themselves with a dead or near dead battery?

Source: Intelligent Energy
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people worldwide live completely “off‑grid” with no access to 

electricity14. For many, keeping their mobile devices powered 

can be a significant challenge. Five hundred million mobile 

users worldwide are forced to travel to mobile recharging shops 

or find alternative solutions to keep their devices powered. 

In developing countries, individuals who have come to rely 

on mobile devices often walk several kilometres to reach a 

recharging station15.

With this backdrop in mind, Intelligent Energy considers that 

there is a significant opportunity for its clean‑power technology 

in the consumer electronics market initially in emerging 

markets, with a specific focus on those people with disposable 

income and who are in need of increasing power but who 

currently have expensive and unreliable mains grid access. 

Indeed, in a survey undertaken by Intelligent Energy in 2013, 

83.5 per cent of South Africans said they would be prepared to 

pay to recharge their mobile phone when it loses power16.

Progress

In the reporting year, Intelligent Energy has invested a 

significant amount of effort into developing and preparing 

its personal energy device for launch into the consumer 

electronics market. The Group is initially targeting the 

developing world, and in particular Nigeria and other African 

countries where the conventional power grid is unreliable.

The personal energy device, consisting of a fuel cell and 

hydrogen fuel cartridge, has been designed to provide an 

immediate and reliable off‑grid means of recharging smart 

phones and other portable electronic equipment. Branded 

Upp™, the easy‑to‑use energy device offers end users a week’s 

worth of power for their phones or other devices, on demand 

and independent of the power grid. 

For the Group’s immediate target customers, the telecom 

carriers, the strategic benefits include an uplift in Average 

Revenue Per User (ARPU), greater profit and increased customer 

satisfaction. 

During FY 2012/2013, work continued at pace to prepare 

Intelligent Energy’s personal energy device for market. 

This involved product development work, extensive testing and 

evaluation of the technology, protection of IP and trademarks 

as well as internal and customer trials. The energy system also 

achieved ”Made for iPhone” status. A free app available via the 

Apple App Store for iOS and Google play for Android was also 

developed to provide end users with a range of information, 

for example, the energy used to date and the amount of 

charge remaining in the energy device, as well as FAQs and 

how and where to refuel. 

While the introduction of the personal energy device was 

originally anticipated before the end of the financial year, the 

overall divisional launch was delayed due to matters outside 

of the Group’s control, particularly in relation to the fund 

raising and as explained elsewhere in this report. In November 

2013, the Upp personal energy system was formally launched 

in Cape Town at the AfricaCom World Series event, with 

the unveiling of the energy device being accompanied by 

customer meetings and significant media activity.

In terms of commercial progress, since the publication of 

the last annual report and alongside the development of 

the Upp system, Intelligent Energy has signed collaborative 

agreements with three telecom carriers to conduct consumer 

trials. In February 2013, Intelligent Energy announced a 

partnership with Cable and Wireless’s Sure brand (now owned 

by Batelco) for a user trial. In May 2013, the Group reported 

that it would be collaborating on a trial for its personal energy 

device with Etisalat, a global telecom company. This trial 

began in summer 2013 with Etisalat’s customers in Nigeria 

and was recently completed. A further contract, with another 

African telecom carrier, was signed in October 2013 and the 

trial is underway. At the time of writing this report, three 

further telecom carriers have agreed to undertake trials and 

formal agreements are being finalised.

Review of business divisions

Calls
made

Data
transferred

+35% +40%

Described Upp 
as Easy or Very 
easy to use

Would consider 
recommending 
Upp to a friend

80%

72%

Figure 2: Upp leads to increased phone usage and customer satisfaction.

Source: Intelligent Energy
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Overall the external and internal trials have so far shown that 

the Upp personal energy system is easy to use and is often 

used to recharge more than one device. They have also shown 

that phone usage has increased significantly across data and 

voice, for both heavy and light users (figure 2). The trials have 

employed the Group’s asset intelligence capabilities in order 

to gather data from subscribers and demonstrate how its 

personal energy device is being used in a developing world 

environment. 

In September 2013, the Consumer Electronics division received 

its first trial order from an undisclosed international electronics 

company for the Upp personal energy device. 

The Group considers that the potential for using clean power 

in the consumer electronics market is substantial. In addition 

to those collaborations detailed above, the Group is actively 

exploring a number of opportunities for a range of portable 

power applications.

10, 11 World Bank, Information and Communications for Development 2012: Maximizing 
Mobile, July 2012 
http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/EXTINFORMATIONANDCOMMUN
ICATIONANDTECHNOLOGIES/0,,contentMDK:23242711~pagePK:210058~piPK:210062~the
SitePK:282823,00.html

12 31% of Kenya’s GDP is spent through mobile phones 
http://finance.yahoo.com/news/31‑kenya‑gdp‑spent‑mobile‑175954101.html

13 Kenya’s mobile revolution and the promise of mobile savings 
http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/book/10.1596/1813‑9450‑5988

14 United Nations, Energy for a Sustainable Future, 2010 
http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/pdf/AGECCsummaryreport[1].pdf

15 GSMA Development Fund, Community Power from Mobile, November 2010 
http://www.gsma.com/mobilefordevelopment/wp‑content/uploads/2012/06/GSMA_
Community_Power.pdf

16 Intelligent Energy, 2013

Asset Management and Business 
Information Systems 

In October 2013, Asset Intelligence changed its name to 

Asset Management and Business Information Systems 

(AMBIS). This reflects the enhancement of the team’s 

overall mission to provide critical insights into the 

management of Intelligent Energy’s technical assets and to 

assist the business divisions in understanding the overall 

management of their enterprises. 

Throughout the year under review, the Group’s AMBIS 

department worked closely with each of the three business 

divisions, with dedicated teams in place to support the 

differing requirements of each division as well as its core 

technology development teams.

For the Motive division, a system was developed to import 

and analyse specialised data inputs from the Group’s 

customers and also for the fuel cell taxi programme. 

For the Distributed Power and Generation division, a 

strategy was defined for the Group’s next‑generation 

back‑up power system as well as the asset management 

capabilities of the Essential Energy business in India.

AMBIS also worked closely with the Consumer Electronics 

division to develop and implement the consumer trials for 

the Upp personal energy device. This involved the creation 

of online user feedback portals, development of data 

gathering and display methodologies, analysis of users’ 

battery performance and the automation of a trial database 

with automatic device ID registration.
Figure 2: Upp leads to increased phone usage and customer satisfaction.
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Chief Executive’s review

Dr Henri Winand
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

This has been a year of steady commercial 

progress, with the whole Intelligent Energy 

team working extremely hard throughout 

this time. We moved ahead with the commercialisation of the 

Group’s clean power technology, building on the momentum 

established in FY 2011/12. In addition, we maintained a 

relentless focus on growing our global network of partners 

and continued to see increased traction with customers 

and partners across all our markets and a broad range of 

geographies. 

Financials and fund raising 

In the FY 2011/12 annual report, we advised that the Group 

would require additional funding in FY 2012/13 in order to 

commence the Distributed Power and Generation business 

and to launch the Consumer Electronics division. We were 

delighted to achieve a successful £31.8m (US$51m) fund raising 

this year although this proved to be more time‑consuming 

and complex than we expected. Given the consequent delayed 

receipt of funds, our ability to deploy capital and launch our 

Distributed Power and Generation market offering precisely in 

line with our plans was impacted. The funding round closed 

one month before our year‑end and however much the team 

strived during September, when combined with other adjacent 

factors, it was not possible to get back on financial track and 

achieve the targeted FY 2012/13 top‑line performance. 

Thus, as we had predicted would be the case and on the back 

of the planned higher level of research and development 

expenditure, the financial performance was weaker than the 

previous year and the business was EBITDA negative, in line 

with FY 2011/12 guidance. The combination of the above with 

the lumpy nature of the licence payments received from Suzuki 

throughout the period meant that the business experienced its 

first year‑on‑year, top‑line reduction for quite some years. 

Operations

Continued operational progress was achieved during the year 

under review. 

In our core Motive division, revenues continued their 

long‑standing trend of steady year‑on‑year increase. This 

business met its technology transfer milestones under the terms 

of the technology licence agreement with the Suzuki Motor 

Corporation and thus claimed the associated payments on time. 

In addition, the SMILE FC System joint venture established, on 

time, a ready‑to‑scale manufacturing line in Japan, marking 

the successful transfer of Intelligent Energy’s technology and 

representing the next stage in high‑volume production of the 

Group’s fuel cell systems for integration with Suzuki vehicles. 

Through the establishment of a wholly‑owned subsidiary, 

Essential Energy India, Intelligent Energy strengthened its 

network and reach in the Distributed Power and Generation 

segment. 

Despite the lengthy funding process, the Consumer Electronics 

division began field trials of its first product with a global 

telecom carrier in Nigeria and laid the foundations for a public 

launch of a new product category in the Consumer Electronics 

market which took place in November 2013.

These two new divisions ‑ Distributed Power and Generation 

and Consumer Electronics ‑ will now provide two further ”legs” 

to our model of generating on‑going revenues for the business. 

Powering ahead

Our global growth markets and opportunities remain 

compelling and we are now able to power ahead on the back 

of the additional capital raised to support the growth of the 

business. 

September marked the signing both of our first trial order for 

our consumer electronics device and an agreement with a 

telecom infrastructure services company in India to develop our 

Distributed Power and Generation offering. 

We established an overseas operations capability for our 

consumer electronics product, with the Group now working 

with, as part of a number of Contract Manufacturers (CMs), 

an Asian CM to produce the Upp™ personal energy device. 

Manufacturing has commenced, with the CM building fuel cell 

stacks and assembling personal energy devices and cartridges. 
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As part of the route to manufacture, the CM was required to 

build a hydrogen infrastructure in their facility. As far as the 

Group is aware, this is the first time this has been achieved by 

a consumer electronics manufacturer in Asia.

Also for its consumer electronics product, the Group 

developed new partnerships with a fuel material supplier and 

with suppliers capable of manufacturing, filling and activating 

fuel cartridges ready for production. 

Market overview

The global energy mix has evolved rapidly in recent years 

and there are now several alternative energy sources that 

can supplement or replace fossil fuels. There is continued 

interest in clean‑energy sources, with increased activity in 

the renewable energy and technology industries. In addition, 

efficiency is taking centre stage. 

Hydrogen is gaining popularity and there is wider acceptance 

and understanding of its potential to be much more than a 

transport fuel for use in fuel cell electric vehicles. Hydrogen 

also provides a useful means for grid‑scale energy storage as a 

buffer for intermittent renewable energy sources (figure 3) and 

can be used as a heating fuel in homes and offices, blended 

with natural gas. As a result, there is widespread interest in fuel 

cells – not only from large, blue‑chip customers, but also in the 

form of greater support and commitment from governments 

and industry consortia around the world, especially in France, 

Germany, India, Japan, Korea, Scandinavia, the USA and the 

UK. In July 2013, the European Commission pledged a €1.4bn 

stimulus package to boost the development of hydrogen and 

fuel cell technologies over the next seven years.

Technology leadership 

Power‑dense energy sources are critical in the range of 

applications across the Group’s three target markets. 

Intelligent Energy’s commercialisation strategy in the past year 

has been underpinned by the superior power density of its 

fuel cell technology and differentiation in its business model. 

The Group reported the highest power density yet for its fuel 

cell stacks in the automotive industry as well as announcing 

an increase of more than 30 per cent in power density from 

an enhanced fuel cell system developed collaboratively with 

partners Dyson, Ricardo and TRW Conekt. 

Headquarters

At its Loughborough headquarters, Intelligent Energy was 

awarded BS OHSAS 18001 during the year, certifying that it 

operates an Occupational Health and Safety Management 

system which complies with British Standards’ requirements. 

The Group also continued to develop its infrastructure, working 

within the existing building framework in spite of the increased 

demand for office space, test space and test capacity.

People

During the year, Intelligent Energy strengthened its 

management team with a number of key appointments. 

These included Julian Hughes (Group Business Development 

Director), John Murray (Director, Asset Management and 

Business Intelligent Services) and Jean‑Louis Cols (Group 

Engineering Director). Amar Samra joined the Group as 

Managing Director of the Consumer Electronics division. Peter 

Brown, the Managing Director of the Distributed Power and 

Generation division, relocated to India in order to develop the 

Essential Energy business.

Priorities

In FY 2012/13, Intelligent Energy maintained course towards 

achieving a number of important milestones and establishing 

further credible customer and partner relationships. The Group 

also undertook a successful, but time‑consuming, capital raise 

which generated additional funds for the Group. Although 

as a result, it fell behind on certain priorities, the Group 

nevertheless built a solid foundation during the reporting year 

in order to be in a position to deliver on these priorities in FY 

2013/14.

For FY 2013/14, Intelligent Energy’s priorities include the 

following: 

 � to secure the next‑phase commitment with a car OEM;

 � to execute the successful introduction of the personal energy 

device into the consumer electronics market;

 � to commence the Essential Energy business in India at scale;

 � to continue to develop the next generation of product 

offerings for each of the three business divisions; and

 � to undertake further fund raising activity in order for the 

Group to deliver on its ambitious growth plans.
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Result

The SMILE JV ready‑to‑scale production line was completed, 

on time, in February 2013.

Superior power density capability was delivered, the number 

of patent applications increased and on‑going reviews of all 

material policies and processes took place. Key positions were 

appointed to strengthen the executive management team.

Delayed but as at year‑end, a route to market in India was 

secured through the formation of Essential Energy. 

Delayed but during the year, significant progress was made 

to develop, commercialise and trial the Group’s first personal 

energy device, which was launched in November 2013. The 

Group also secured its first trial order before the year‑end.

Fund raising activity resulted in £31.8m (US$51m) capital being 

generated.

Priority – FY 2012/13

Deliver the first manufacturing line for one of its automotive 

OEM customers.

Continue to invest consistently in its technologies, 

engineering and operational processes including robust risk 

management and team capabilities to ensure that the Group 

has a solid delivery capability.

Accelerate the market entry of its Distributed Power and 

Generation division to capitalise on favourable market 

conditions.

Launch the first consumer electronics product powered by its 

fuel cell power systems. 

 

Ensure that the Group is sufficiently capitalised to deliver its 

growth plans.

Outlook

Having secured its largest ever capital raise, Intelligent Energy 

aims to forge ahead into the next stages of its development in 

FY 2013/14. 

It is intended that the funds will be used as follows:

 � to fund and enable the commercial launch of the Consumer 

Electronics division, with its attendant global opportunities;

 � to fund and enable the commercial growth of the 

Distributed Power and Generation division, initially in India;

 � to maintain, and fund an expansion of, core R&D activities 

(including in relation to the development of remote asset 

monitoring capabilities) and develop further management 

risk control systems; and

 � to satisfy general working capital purposes.

On the basis that Intelligent Energy delivers a successful launch 

of the new divisions, revenue is expected to grow in FY 2013/14 

compared with FY 2012/13, although the costs associated with 

launching new activities is expected to result in EBITDA being 

negative for the year. Following its successful capital raise, the 

Group anticipates that new funding will be required in 2014 to 

support the expected growth in the business and its operation 

post the launch of the new divisions.

Henri Winand Chief Executive Officer
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Dr Philip Mitchell
CHIEF TECHNOLOGY OFFICER

Key activities over the reporting period 

have included the continued focus on 

delivery in the motive space and the 

validation of product integrity prior to launch into the 

consumer electronics market. Improving the efficiency of 

the fuel cell cores that will service back‑up power in the 

distributed power and generation sector has also been a 

major focus over the past 12 months.

Significant progress has been made in the understanding 

of critical aspects of design and control that impact on 

the durability of fuel cells in the application environment. 

Degradation prediction tools to allow the mapping of 

operational parameters to fundamental physico‑chemical 

characteristics of fuel cells have been developed. These 

diagnostic capabilities are essential to maximise life and 

performance through both control strategy development and 

in‑field asset management.

Evaporatively-Cooled (EC) technology

Earlier this year, the extensive development work on pressed 

bipolar plates came to fruition with the demonstration of 

industry‑leading fuel cell performance at volumetric and 

gravimetric stack power densities of 3.7 kW/L and 

2.5 kW/kg respectively. These stack powers are delivered as a 

continuous output (not single‑point peak) and as such, the 

Group continues to validate its development roadmap by 

exceeding performance milestones and progressing rapidly 

in accordance with customer requirements. Single‑stack 

units, comprising 324 cells, have been assembled and capable 

of delivering 60kW for a mass of 24kg. These are now being 

evaluated in twin‑stack mode at the system level as part of a 

customer programme.

Other demonstrations of the pressed‑plate utility came from 

a multi‑partner project led by the Group that examined the 

feasibility of integration of an Intelligent Energy unique 

stack construct with a close‑coupled air compressor unit. 

An increase in power density of more than 30 per cent was 

achieved by the project team, delivering an improvement 

in power output from 30kW to 40kW for the chosen test 

system without increasing system mass or size. Additionally, 

Chief Technology Officer’s review

through the introduction of a new coolant module developed 

specifically by Intelligent Energy for the project, cold start 

performance was further enhanced. Intelligent Energy 

managed the overall design and integration of the advanced 

fuel cell system with Ricardo acting as the customer, providing 

a comprehensive automotive specification and sign‑off at 

the end of the project. TRW Conekt validated the integrity of 

the fuel cell modules through vibration and environmental 

testing, helping to identify and prevent potential problems. 

Dyson Technology developed the compact, high efficiency 

compressor (a key subsystem for air delivery into the fuel 

cell system) based on their digital motor technology, which 

was engineered to integrate into an existing stack enclosure, 

a component already designed for mass production. This 

compact package is being considered by the Group’s motive 

clients as a possible modular solution to range extender needs 

of pure battery‑electric vehicles.

Air-Cooled (AC) technology

The new format AC technology as reported last year, which 

incorporates significant improvements in manufacturability, 

has not only been validated through in‑house trials but is also 

the variant that has been provided under licence to the Suzuki 

Motor Corporation and will form the basis of vehicle platforms 

for their first market introductions.

Cell component tooling development and compatibility of 

materials with forming and additional processing has been an 

on‑going effort throughout the year. This is part of the drive 

to reach the next cost‑down increment for both motive and 

distributed power and generation applications by progression 

from “pick‑and‑place” robotics to techniques that provide 

higher throughput assembly and inspection techniques.
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Systems design and packaging in modular format have 

advanced to such an extent that stand‑alone units have been 

successfully demonstrated with integrated air recirculation 

systems for both motive and back‑up power use. These 

recirculation mechanisms greatly extend the environmental 

operating envelope of the AC stack and have shown the 

capability to continuously deliver power at temperatures as low 

as ‑22°C.

The first of Intelligent Energy’s consumer electronics devices is 

built around a central stack core that is a variant of the larger 

AC technology more commonly associated with low‑power 

automotive and stationary applications. The cell structure has a 

nominal active area of 10cm2 whereas the technology provided 

under licence to Suzuki is more than five times this size. Whilst 

concept stacks and various prototypes have been in existence 

for some years the “shrinking” of the cell has presented its 

own technical challenges, both from a component design and 

manufacturability perspective. 

Many of the critical issues that arise when a new product is 

prepared for market have been addressed over the last 12 

months. Selection and verification of materials for durability, 

performance, cost and availability are crucial in ensuring the 

basic commercial proposition can be sustained. Beyond the stack 

itself, the full product package has been developed from balance 

of plant components (such as fans, valves, PCBs and controls 

software) to the external containment, which has to be robust 

and fit for service whist maintaining high aesthetic appeal.

Design assurance, which includes testing against product 

requirements, validation of operational safety and ensuring 

conformity with applicable standards has been a major 

effort, consuming many thousands of hours of test time and 

occupying hundreds of in‑house rigs as well as requiring the use 

of contracted services and independent certification agencies.

This first consumer platform has undergone field trials and 

was launched in November 2013. Feedback and learning will 

be applied through a continuous improvement methodology 

as the Group progresses with derivatives and on to future 

generations of the device.

Technology transfer

A substantial exercise in technology transfer has been 

undertaken over the last financial year, with the objective of 

this effort being to ensure that SMILE FC System Corporation, 

the joint venture company set up by the Suzuki Motor 

Corporation and Intelligent Energy in 2012, was in receipt 

of the licensed intellectual property necessary to establish 

“stand‑alone” capability to fabricate AC fuel cells and stack 

modules. The transfer process entailed not only the delivery 

of documentation but also training in the form of a formal 

lecture programme and the managed supply and installation 

of manufacturing equipment. Intelligent Energy has populated 

roles within the joint venture in order to ensure continued 

good stewardship of the intellectual assets, to help identify and 

register new arising knowledge and to develop new supply 

chain opportunities within the local geography.

Intellectual property

Generation and protection of new intellectual property remains 

a key activity. Throughout the last 12 months steady progress has 

been made, extending the total number of patent applications 

beyond 550 covering over 100 discrete families, with 180 patents 

coming to grant so far. This compares to 2012, when 448 patent 

applications, 76 families and 150 patents having reached grant 

status, were reported.

Dr Philip Mitchell Chief Technology Officer
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John Maguire
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

After the strong revenue growth 

and EBITDA positive performance 

of FY 2011/12, FY 2012/13’s financial 

trading performance was disappointing. 

While Intelligent Energy was successful in raising additional 

funding during the year under review to further underpin the 

activities of the new Consumer Electronics and Distributed 

Power and Generation divisions, the process took longer and 

was more complex to complete than anticipated. 

Although the Group took its first trial order for its consumer 

electronics product in September 2013 and also accumulated 

data from its field trials in Nigeria, as a result of the delay 

in the deployment of capital for the Distributed Power and 

Generation division, and (combined with other factors) a 

revised launch date for the Consumer Electronics division, the 

Group saw no revenue from these activities being recorded in 

FY 2012/13. 

Chief Financial Officer’s review

Consolidated income statement

Revenue and gross margin

Revenue for the year was £20.8m (2012: £43.9m). All revenue 

was recorded in the Motive division. The year‑on‑year 

decrease in revenue reflected the planned lower level of 

Suzuki licence revenue in 2013 compared with the prior year, 

although joint development and engineering services revenue 

did grow on an underlying basis compared with last year. 

This reflected in particular activity related to the European 

Premium Car Maker. While commercialisation activity 

progressed in the Consumer Electronics and Distributed 

Power and Generation divisions, revenue was not recorded in 

FY 2012/13, both adversely impacted by the somewhat longer 

and more complex capital raise during the year.

Gross margin represents revenue less cost of sales. Cost of 

sales in the period reflects labour costs and materials and 

facilities used in delivering contracted revenue‑earning 

projects. Gross margin for the year was £7.3m (2012: £26.1m) 

and in percentage terms, 35% of revenue (2012: 59%). The 

reduction in gross margin reflected the lower level of revenue 

in the period, and a change in the mix of revenue, with a lower 

amount of high gross margin licence‑related activity recorded 

in FY 2012/13.

Financial KPI measures 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

£M £M £M £M £M 

Revenue 4.5 7.8 11.9 43.9 20.8

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)  (7.8) (9.3) (13.7) 2.8 (23.4)

Profit/(loss) for the year (7.8) (10.7) (15.2) 7.8 (21.0)

Capital expenditure (0.6) (2.0) (0.4) (5.4) (3.8)

Net cashflow from operating activities less investing activities (8.7) (11.5) (16.7) (1.0) (25.1)
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Research and development and administration costs

In the year, R&D expenditure for non‑revenue generating 

projects in the year amounted to £13.9m (2012: £13.3m). 

This reflected continued activity in the preparation of 

products for Intelligent Energy’s planned first Consumer 

Electronics offering and the continued development of core 

Evaporatively‑Cooled and Air‑Cooled stack technology and 

performance, together with work related to the Distributed 

Power and Generation division. 

Administration expenses in the year amounted to £20.2m 

(2012: £12.1m). Approximately 50 per cent of the year‑on‑year 

increase related to the annualised impact of the rise in the 

cost base in Q4 of the prior year, and specifically headcount. In 

turn, this reflected the start of the new Consumer Electronics 

and Distributed Power and Generation activities and the 

full‑year cost impact in FY 2012/13 of Intelligent Energy’s 

representative office in Japan, which opened earlier in 2012.

EBITDA and trading profit

EBITDA (Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and 

Amortisation) is a non‑statutory measure that is widely 

used as an indicator of trading profitability and a proxy for a 

company’s operating cashflow, before any cash movements 

relating to investment, tax, funding and changes in working 

capital. It is not an IFRS measure, and not therefore shown in 

the Group income statement. 

For Intelligent Energy, EBITDA is measured as revenue less 

cost of sales less R&D and administration costs, adjusted for 

depreciation. On this measure, EBITDA for the year was a 

loss of £23.4m (2012 profit: £2.8m). The movement in EBITDA 

reflected the impact of lower revenue and lower margin 

revenue year on year, and planned higher operating costs to 

support the activities of the new divisions.

Trading loss for the year was £26.7m (2012 profit: £0.6m) and 

represents EBITDA less depreciation and amortisation of £3.3m 

(2012: £2.1m). 

(Loss)/profit for the year

The loss for the year was £21.0m (2012 profit: £7.8m), being 

a reflection of the trading loss reported above, and the 

following items:

 � The Group’s share of the loss on joint ventures accounted 

for under the equity method of £2.5m (2012: £1.0m). This 

reflects net costs related to the SMILE FC Corporation joint 

venture with Suzuki Motor Corporation for ready‑to‑scale 

production line activities and continued planning activities 

at IE‑CHP (UK & Eire) Limited, a joint venture with Scottish 

and Southern Energy plc.

 � Net interest charges of £0.5m (2012: £1.0m), with interest 

accruing for the convertible loan notes issued in Q4 2012/13. 

 � Income tax income of £8.8m (2012: £8.7m) reflecting R&D tax 

credits and adjustments to the deferred tax asset.

Consolidated statement of financial position 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment at £5.3m (2012: £4.3m) 

represented additions of £3.8m in the year, offset by 

depreciation of £2.8m. 

Additions included test rigs and chambers and other 

equipment for the commercialisation programmes.

Intangible assets at £9.5m (2012: £8.8m) reflected additions of 

£1.2m and amortisation of £0.5m. Intangible assets primarily 

represent the Group’s intellectual property patent portfolio of 

over 100 patent families.

Investments using the equity method

The Group accounts for joint ventures using the equity 

method, and includes the carrying value of its share of positive 

net assets in the statement of financial position. In the year, 

the carrying value moved from £6.4m to £3.8m, reflecting 

Intelligent Energy’s share of net costs in SMILE FC System 

Corporation and IE‑CHP (UK & Eire) Limited. 
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Current assets

Inventory at £1.5m (2012: £1.2m) was higher year on year due 

to carrying additional material related to preparations for 

the commencement of production for consumer electronics 

related activities. 

Trade and other receivables at £13.3m (2012: £6.4m) were up 

year on year, mainly reflecting £5m of irrevocable convertible 

loan notes receivable at the year‑end. 

The cash balance at £31.6m (2012: £29.9m) represents an 

increase year on year, with EBITDA losses and working capital, 

capital investment and interest movements more than being 

offset by receipts from the convertible loan notes net of fees 

of £25.3m, new shares (£1.5m) and R&D tax credits (£3.6m) in 

the year. 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables at 30 September 2013 of £8.6m 

(2012: £9.4m) represented trade and other payables of £7.6m 

and deferred income of £1.0m. 

Convertible loan notes

Intelligent Energy Holdings plc issued unsecured convertible 

loan notes in August 2013 for £32.5m with a coupon rate of 

5 per cent, compounding annually, which mature in 2017. 

The loan note can convert into shares earlier under certain 

defined events as set out in Note 23 of the Annual Report. 

The loan note is a compound financial instrument and for 

accounting purposes is split into a debt component (£18.5m at 

30 September 2013) and an equity component of £12.3m.

Commitments

At 30 September 2013, outstanding purchase orders amounted 

to £4.3m. Intelligent Energy is also contractually committed 

to a further ¥500m (£4.0m) investment in SMILE FC System 

Corporation, expected in 2015.

Going concern

The current planned commercial launch of the Consumer 

Electronics and Distributed Power and Generation divisions, 

together with continued research and development activities, 

will require Intelligent Energy to seek additional funding in 

2014. Should funding not be forthcoming for this continued 

expansion of activities, the Group has the option to focus 

only on its Motive‑related licensing and joint development 

activities. In such a scenario, and after making the relevant 

enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that 

the Group has adequate financial resources to continue 

in existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the 

directors continue to adopt the ”going concern” basis for the 

preparation of the financial statements.

John Maguire Chief Financial Officer
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Board of Directors

Dr Henri Winand
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

 

Dr Winand joined the Board as Chief Executive on 1 September 

2006. He was previously Vice President of Corporate Venturing 

at Rolls‑Royce plc, the power systems provider for land, sea 

and air. 

Dr Winand has a PhD from the University of Cambridge, a 

Masters of Business Administration from Warwick University 

and a BEng from Imperial College, London. He is a Governing 

Board member of the European Union’s Fuel Cell Hydrogen 

Joint Undertaking (FCH JU) and Treasurer of the NEW 

Industrial Grouping, also part of the FCH JU structure. He is 

a member of the UK Government’s Green Economy Council, 

advising the Secretaries of State for DECC, DEFRA and BIS and 

is also a member of the University of Cambridge’s Alumni 

Advisory Board. 

John Maguire
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

 

John Maguire was appointed in January 2012 and has Board‑

level experience of listed and unlisted technology‑rich 

companies.

Mr Maguire joined Intelligent Energy from Etisalat Nigeria, 

at the time a start‑up GSM mobile telecom operator. He was 

previously CFO at FTSE 250 THUS Group plc for nine years, and 

prior to that worked in a number of senior finance positions, 

including as Vice President Finance Japan and Asia, at Cable & 

Wireless, based in Tokyo.

A Chartered Accountant, having trained with Ernst & Young, 

Mr Maguire is also a Non‑Executive Director of Jee Limited, a 

subsea engineering and training company.

Dr Philip Mitchell
CHIEF TECHNOLOGY OFFICER 
AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

 

One of the founders of Intelligent Energy, Dr Mitchell is an 

electrochemist with over 20 years of experience in fuel cell and 

related fields. He was formerly Research and Development 

Manager at Innogy Technology Ventures Ltd (part of the 

Innogy Group) where he was engaged in the development of 

the “Regenesys” electrochemical energy storage system and 

directed Innogy’s research programme in regenerative fuel cell 

and electrochemical technologies. 

Dr Mitchell has a BSc and a PhD in Chemistry from 

Loughborough University.

Paul Heiden
NON‑EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 

 

Paul Heiden was appointed Non‑Executive Chairman in 

September 2012. He has extensive experience at the most 

senior levels of industry in a career which has spanned a 

range of leading engineering, manufacturing and technology 

companies. These include Rolls‑Royce plc, where he was 

Group Finance Director and, more recently, FKI plc, where he 

was Chief Executive Officer. He has extensive experience in 

corporate governance activities including communication 

with investors in the UK, USA and EU.

Mr Heiden is currently a Non‑Executive Director of the London 

Stock Exchange Group plc and Meggitt plc. Until recently, he 

was also Chairman of Talaris Topco plc, a company owned by 

the Carlyle Group, and United Utilities plc.
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Martin Bloom 
NON‑EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 

Martin Bloom is Chairman of Renesola, the global photovoltaic 

manufacturer that he helped list on AIM London and more 

recently, on the New York Stock Exchange. Mr Bloom has 

steered Renesola through rapid growth to become a £620m 

plus turnover company in just a few years.

Mr Bloom is a specialist in building high‑growth technology 

companies across a range of sectors. He has strong 

connections in Asia, in particular with Chinese businesses, 

institutions and government organisations.

Board of Directors

Zarir J. Cama
NON‑EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 

Zarir J. Cama is a former Chief Executive Officer of HSBC India 

and Malaysia, and was most recently the Group General 

Manager of Group Management Office at HSBC Holdings plc 

prior to his retirement.

Mr Cama’s 44‑year career at HSBC included a variety of 

senior management positions in Asia and the Middle East. 

He currently holds non‑executive positions at HSBC Bank 

Bermuda Limited, The Saudi British Bank (SABB), HSBC Private 

Banking Holdings (Suisse) SA, Tata Capital UK, Tata Capital Pte 

Ltd Singapore and Strategic India Infrastructure Fund Pte Ltd 

Singapore.

Mike Muller
NON‑EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 

Mike Muller is the Chief Technology Officer of ARM Holdings 

plc, the British‑based semiconductor and software design 

company. Mr Muller was one of the founding members of 

ARM Limited when it was created as a joint venture in 1990 

between Apple and Acorn. He occupied the post of Marketing 

Director and changed roles in 1996 to become Executive VP 

of Business Development before becoming Chief Technology 

Officer in 2000.

Mr Muller brings unique experience in building a partnership‑

based business that has enabled a broad ecosystem of 

thousands of companies that collaborate together to create 

innovative technology solutions.

Flavio Guidotti
NON‑EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 

Flavio Guidotti is an independent business consultant and 

sits on the Board of several corporations and non‑profit 

organisations. With over 30 years of business experience, 

he has worked in investment banking, first for the Banque 

Européenne pour l’Amérique Latine (at the time a Fortis 

affiliate) and then for the Royal Bank of Canada. He has also 

managed various business divisions at the Southern Cone 

headquarters of ExxonMobil in Buenos Aires. In 1997 Mr 

Guidotti was appointed Senior Adviser to the President of the 

Central Bank of Argentina.

Mr Guidotti is a CPA and holds a degree in Business 

Administration from the Universidad Católica Argentina, 

Buenos Aires, where he has also been Professor of General 

Management and Business Strategy for several years.
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Directors’ report

The directors present their annual report and the audited 

Group financial statements for the year ended 30 September 

2013. In these financial statements the business has applied 

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 

European Union. 

Results and dividends

The Group loss for the year, after taxation, amounted to £21.0m 

(2012: profit £7.8m). No dividend is payable or proposed for the 

year.

Principal activity

Intelligent Energy is engaged in the development of energy 

generating platforms using fuel cell and remote monitoring 

technology which is either licensed and enhanced under 

joint development agreements with industrial partners or 

developed directly in a business‑to‑business model using 

contract manufacturers. 

Review of business and future developments

2012/13 saw revenue decrease from £43.9m in FY 2011/12 to 

£20.8m in FY 2012/13, with a loss for the year of £21.0m versus a 

profit of £7.8m. The change in financial performance reflected 

a lower level of high‑margin Suzuki licence‑related revenue in 

the year. The longer than expected fund raising exercise that 

completed in Q4 of FY 2012/13 also contributed, together with 

other factors, to the launch of the two new proposed divisions 

being rephased into FY 2013/14. 

Growth in FY 2013/14 is dependent on the successful launch 

of Intelligent Energy’s planned consumer electronics and 

distributed power and generation offerings in that year.

Principal risks

The Board has identified the following principal risks in 

relation to the Group’s financial and operational performance. 

These risks, considered below, are not intended to encompass 

all the risks that Intelligent Energy faces nor are they in any 

particular order.

Risk factors affecting the Company and Group

The Group’s business plan and financial model may not proceed 

as planned and it may require further future funding, the 

availability of which is uncertain.

The Group’s future liquidity and capital requirements are 

difficult to predict because they depend on numerous 

factors, including the success of its products, the impact 

of competing technologies, market developments and 

the Group’s ability to secure sufficient revenues from its 

partnering business model. As a result, and despite the 

receipt of proceeds from the convertible loan notes, the 

Group may not be able to generate sufficient cash from its 

operations to meet additional working capital requirements, 

support additional research and development or take 

advantage of acquisition opportunities. The Group may 

need to raise additional financing in the future. The Group’s 

ability to obtain additional financing will be subject to a 

number of factors, including market conditions, its operating 

performance and investor sentiment. These factors may 

make the timing, amount, terms and conditions of additional 

financing unattractive for the Group. The Group may not be 

able to raise additional funds when needed and its ability 

to operate, grow its business and progress through further 

stages of development could be impeded. Furthermore, if 

additional funds are raised by the issue of equity securities, 

this may result in dilution of existing shareholdings.

In order to mitigate this risk, Intelligent Energy regularly 

forecasts future cashflows and engages where appropriate 

in relevant fund raising activities and monitors the level of 

future financial commitments in order to take appropriate 

action if required. 
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The Group has historically been loss-making in most years to date 

and may continue to make losses.

Intelligent Energy’s business was launched in 2001 and (save 

in respect of the preceding financial reporting period) has 

incurred losses. The development of Intelligent Energy’s 

business may not continue as rapidly as the Board 

anticipates and there is no assurance that the Group will 

be successful in achieving a sustainable transition to 

large‑scale commercial revenues which will enable the 

Group to become profitable. Profitability may also be 

affected by the cyclical nature of the economy and other 

factors outside the control of the Board which they cannot 

foresee, such as legislative or regulatory changes.

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group has in place strict 

financial controls and closely monitors its financial position 

and future order book, to reduce the risk of the Company 

making losses in the future.

The Group fails to achieve forecast sales targets.

The Group’s service and proposed offerings are typically not 

available in the wider market or represent an early adopter 

segment in the market. Consequently there is a risk that sales 

expectations are not met, leading to a materially lower return 

on investment than planned for. 

In order to mitigate this risk, Intelligent Energy has a policy of 

not undertaking either development or product work unless 

there is an existing industrial partner commissioning or jointly 

undertaking the activity within the Group, or new product 

development work has been initiated following discussions 

with a relevant sector leading OEM. Furthermore, the Group 

closely monitors costs and makes regular forecasts relating to 

the expected completion of projects and revenue. In addition, 

the Group has identified and is pursuing opportunities across 

three different global markets through its three divisions in 

order to seek to create a more balanced business, which is less 

reliant on a small number of focused opportunities.

Intelligent Energy depends on management and other key 

personnel.

The success of the Group and its business strategy 

are dependent on its ability to attract and retain key 

management, commercial and technical personnel. In 

addition, as the Group commercialises and expands its 

partner relationships, the Group will need to recruit additional 

management personnel and support staff. The loss of the 

services of one or more members of the management group 

or key technical or commercial personnel or the inability to 

recruit additional personnel as needed may make it difficult 

for the Group to manage its business and meet its objectives 

and as a consequence its business, results of operations or 

financial condition may be adversely affected. 

In order to mitigate this risk, Intelligent Energy maintains 

regular contact with recruitment bodies to understand trends 

in the labour market and regularly monitors staff turnover. 

Additionally, the Remuneration Committee is currently 

finalising an incentivisation programme in order to assist in 

attracting and retaining key personnel.

The Group may not be able to capitalise on the potential 

customer base outside the UK.

Intelligent Energy is predominantly based in the UK and may 

not be able to maintain or increase the business it carries 

on through its overseas subsidiary companies. In addition, 

the early‑stage nature of the businesses of the overseas 

subsidiaries means that Intelligent Energy faces significant 

challenges in developing and bringing technology of such 

businesses to market. 

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group employs personnel 

who have strong international backgrounds and puts in place 

experienced personnel to run and work in its subsidiaries. It 

also continues to undertake a review of the value (including 

goodwill) attributable to its overseas subsidiaries as part of its 

annual, group‑wide, asset impairment review. 
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Directors’ report

The Group relies on third parties to manufacture its products.

The Group, while contributing its design expertise to the 

development of mass manufacture products, does not in its 

own right undertake the mass manufacture of equipment 

or devices. As such it is dependent on its partners, whether 

customers or contract manufacturers, to successfully deliver 

the intended production at scale and to the required 

tolerances of the end products enabled by its designs and 

deployment of its intellectual property. 

In order to mitigate this risk, Intelligent Energy partners with 

industry leading or specialist companies and has in place a 

detailed internal process to manage the Group’s relationship 

with its key partners. 

The Group is committed to contractual targets.

Intelligent Energy has a number of customer contracts 

requiring adherence to milestones and service level 

agreements. A failure to adhere to these contractual 

commitments could lead to financial penalties or in extreme 

scenarios the loss of future activity. 

In order to mitigate this risk, contractual commitments are 

closely monitored internally to underpin delivery and identify 

corrective action if appropriate. 

Intelligent Energy faces strong competition and may not be able 

to compete successfully.

Intelligent Energy’s target markets include all principal 

economic regions of the globe. There are a number of 

competitors in each of these regions against which the 

Group may not be able to compete successfully. In addition, 

the new energy market as a whole is rapidly developing 

and the directors anticipate that additional competitors 

will enter the market if adoption of such technologies and 

systems increases. If the Group’s competitors establish a more 

prominent market position than it, the Group may be unable 

to increase its sales and market share.

In order to mitigate this risk, Intelligent Energy closely 

monitors the energy market, the activity of its competitors 

and introduction of new technologies.

Intelligent Energy is developing high-technology products.

Intelligent Energy is developing and deploying complex, 

innovative technology derived from in‑house related 

intellectual property and research. As a result, projects 

and programmes may not deliver on time or on budget or 

to an expected performance criteria. This can delay new 

product launches or result in the loss of joint development 

agreements. 

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group has dedicated project 

managers who control, monitor and manage identified work 

packages to meet predefined delivery criteria or escalate 

material issues internally. 

Intelligent Energy may be unable to deliver its technology 

portfolio to mass markets.

There is no certainty that Intelligent Energy will be able to 

successfully deploy all or any of its technology platforms 

in mass‑market end‑products. Intelligent Energy will be 

dependent upon the resources of partners and suppliers to 

develop end‑products and bring them to market, as well as on 

their strategic attributes such as regional presence and market 

position.

In order to mitigate this risk, Intelligent Energy partners with 

industry‑leading or specialist companies and has in place a 

detailed internal process to manage its key partners. 
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Dependence on intellectual property and proprietary technology.

The Group’s success will depend partly on its ability 

to maintain and uphold the proprietary position of its 

products and its technologies. There is no assurance that 

third parties’ rights, including third party patents, will not 

have an adverse effect on Intelligent Energy’s ability to 

pursue some or all aspects of its business; that third parties 

will not independently develop similar or competing 

technologies; that Intelligent Energy’s patent applications 

(and any subsequent or resulting granted patents) will 

not be challenged by third parties, either successfully or 

otherwise; that where Intelligent Energy relies on confidential 

and/or proprietary know‑how, others will not gain access 

to it even though Intelligent Energy only discloses such 

confidential and/or proprietary know‑how under a written 

obligation of confidence contained in a non‑disclosure 

agreement; that any currently pending or future patent 

applications will be issued; or that competitors will not 

develop similar products which are not within the scope of 

Intelligent Energy’s patents (if or when they proceed to grant) 

or, where patents have been issued to Intelligent Energy, 

that others will not be able to design around such patents 

to create a competing technology or product. To enforce 

any intellectual property rights, the Group may have to 

institute litigation, which can be costly and time‑consuming 

and the outcome of which would be unpredictable.

In order to mitigate this risk, Intelligent Energy does identify 

and register its IP where appropriate to aid enforcement 

of its rights and challenge infringement if appropriate. 

The partnership model also aims to align other industry 

participants to help protect and enforce the Group’s IP. 

Intelligent Energy also looks to regularly extend its proprietary 

knowledge with continued and on‑going research activities. 

Furthermore, the business monitors and takes part in fuel cell 

industry forums to stay up to date with and contribute to IP 

related matters. 

The Group may be exposed to litigation in the future.

Customers and partners may rely upon the Group’s products 

for their energy needs. A malfunction or the inadequate 

design of the Group’s products could result in contractual, 

tort or warranty claims. Any liability for environmental harm, 

the cost/expenses of defending product liability claims or 

the amount of any settlement or damages resulting from an 

adverse judgement arising from technical faults or failures 

could be substantial and could materially adversely affect 

Intelligent Energy’s business and results of operations. In 

addition, a well‑publicised actual or perceived problem may 

damage Intelligent Energy’s reputation and could adversely 

affect the market’s perception of the Group’s products, 

which would materially adversely affect the Group’s financial 

condition and results of operations.

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group has in place extensive 

quality control procedures to ensure the quality of its 

products. 

Risk factors affecting the market

A mass market for fuel cell systems may never develop or may 

take longer to develop than the Company anticipates.

There is always a degree of uncertainty that surrounds the 

wide‑scale introduction of new technologies and there is 

no certainty that a mass market for the Group’s products 

and technologies will develop. There is no assurance that 

the current markets anticipated by the Group will develop 

profitably.

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group closely monitors 

the progress of its target markets and the energy market as 

a whole to assess the appetite for such technology and is 

proactive in seeking out new and diverse markets where the 

technology can be used.
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Directors’ report

Technological changes in the energy industry could render the 

Group’s technology obsolete.

Many of the companies in the energy industry (including 

those original equipment manufacturers with separate 

business units involved in fuel cell technology) have 

substantially greater capital resources, research and 

development staff, facilities and experience available to 

them than the Group does. Such entities have developed, 

may be developing or could in the future develop additional 

products which are competitive with the Group’s business. 

Additionally, they may be able to devote greater resources to 

the promotion and sale of these products. There can be no 

assurance that the Group’s competitors will not succeed in 

developing or marketing technologies that are more effective 

or less expensive than those developed or marketed by the 

Group or that would render its technology or business model 

obsolete or non‑competitive. Earlier entrants in the market 

often obtain and maintain significant market share relative to 

later entrants. Intelligent Energy may need to invest significant 

financial resources in research and development to keep pace 

with technological advances in the energy industry and to 

compete effectively in the future.

In order to mitigate this risk, Intelligent Energy actively 

monitors industry developments as well as aligning with 

partners and customers whose scale and expertise strengthen 

the Group’s position in the market place.

The Group’s products rely on a fuel supply infrastructure.

The Motive and Distributed Power and Generation divisions 

of Intelligent Energy are dependent in the long term on the 

availability of hydrogen to the end consumer or customer 

in sufficient quantities and at the right price and level of 

convenience. This is in the context of hydrogen as a fuel to the 

products that Intelligent Energy’s customers’ customers use. 

Should the availability of hydrogen not improve from current 

levels, this will limit the planned growth of these two divisions 

of the Group. 

In order to mitigate this risk, Intelligent Energy is targeting its 

business development efforts to geographies that are more 

favourable for future hydrogen development at scale and is 

an active member in forums that bring together governments 

and industry to promote the development of hydrogen in a 

convenient, cost‑effective and safe manner at scale. 

The Consumer Electronics division is dependent on the 

adoption of rechargeable and disposable cartridges that can 

produce hydrogen on demand to hand‑held chargers for 

mobile devices. It is also dependent on these devices being 

available at scale. 

In order to mitigate this risk, Intelligent Energy continues to 

develop alternative types of cartridge and to focus on markets 

where, in its opinion, adoption is likely to be strong. 

The Group’s products can benefit from regulatory support due to 

their environmental and energy security benefits.

Government regulations can change the economics of the 

hydrogen powered fuel cell industry or of its competing 

fuels and energy sources. Emissions and safety regulations, 

their nature, extent and cost can also strongly influence 

the adoption rate of hydrogen technology and competing 

alternatives. This can impact the rate of revenue and margin 

evolution of Intelligent Energy’s future business. 

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group designs its products 

in a manner that aims to make its products and services safe 

and certifiable and not dependent on government subsidy 

when deployed at scale, and monitors regulations in its key 

geographies. 
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Going concern

The current planned commercial launch of the Consumer 

Electronics and Distributed Power and Generation divisions, 

together with continued research and development activities, 

will require Intelligent Energy to seek additional funding in 

2014. Should funding not be forthcoming for this continued 

expansion of activities, the Group has the option to focus 

only on its Motive‑related licensing and joint development 

activities. In such a scenario, and after making the relevant 

enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that 

the Group has adequate financial resources to continue 

in existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the 

directors continue to adopt the ”going concern” basis for the 

preparation of the financial statements. 

Directors’ liabilities

The Group and Company have granted an indemnity to one or 

more of its directors against liability in respect of proceedings 

brought by third parties, subject to the conditions set out 

in the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third‑party 

indemnity provision remains in force as at the date of 

approving the directors’ report.

Contracts

There were no contracts of significant substance during or 

at the end of the financial period in which a director was 

materially interested.

Supplier payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to suppliers are made in 

accordance with those terms and conditions agreed between 

the Group and its suppliers, provided that all trading terms 

and conditions have been complied with. As the parent 

Company does not trade directly, there are no purchases or 

trade payables.

Auditor

KPMG LLP offered itself for re‑election at the forthcoming 

AGM. 

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to the 

auditor

The directors who were members of the Board at the time of 

approving the directors’ report are listed on pages 25 to 26. 

Having made enquiries of fellow directors and of the Group 

and Company’s auditor, each of these directors confirms that:

 � to the best of each director’s knowledge and belief, there is 

no information relevant to the preparation of their report of 

which the Group and Company’s auditor is unaware; and

 � each director has taken all the steps a director might 

reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware of 

relevant audit information and to establish that the Group 

and Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf 

of the Board.

Paul Heiden Chairman 29 November 2013
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of 
preparations of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 

and the Group and parent Company financial statements in 

accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and 

parent Company financial statements for each financial year. 

Under that law they have elected to prepare both the Group 

and the parent Company financial statements in accordance 

with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law.

Under company law the directors must not approve the 

financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and 

parent Company and of their profit or loss for that period. In 

preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial 

statements, the directors are required to:

 � select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 

consistently;

 � make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 

prudent;

 � state whether they have been prepared in accordance with 

IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and

 � prepare the financial statements on the “going concern” 

basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group 

and the parent Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 

records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent 

Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy 

at any time the financial position of the parent Company and 

enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply 

with the Companies Act 2006. They have general responsibility 

for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to 

safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect 

fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 

integrity of the corporate and financial information included 

on the Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing 

the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 

may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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We have audited the financial statements of Intelligent Energy 

Holdings plc for the year ended 30 September 2013 which 

comprise the Group income statement, the Group statement of 

comprehensive income, the Group and Company statements 

of financial position, the Group and Company statements of 

changes in equity, the Group and Company statements of cash 

flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 

and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 

adopted by the EU and, as regards the parent Company financial 

statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 

Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a 

body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 

Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 

might state to the Company’s members those matters we 

are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 

other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 

not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 

Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 

work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ 

responsibilities set out on page 34, the directors are responsible 

for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 

satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is 

to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in 

accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 

Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 

with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is 

provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.

frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion:

 � the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state 

of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affairs as at 30 

September 2013 and of the Group’s loss for the year then 

ended;

 � the Group financial statements have been properly prepared 

in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

 � the parent Company financial statements have been 

properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 

the EU and as applied in accordance with the provisions of 

the Companies Act 2006; and

 � the financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the 

Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the directors’ report 

for the financial year for which the financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 

where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 

in our opinion:

 � adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 

parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 

been received from branches not visited by us; or

 � the parent Company financial statements are not in 

agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

 � certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by 

law are not made; or

 � we have not received all the information and explanations 

we require for our audit.

Wayne Cox (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP 

Statutory Auditor 

St Nicholas House 

Park Row 

Nottingham 

NG1 6FQ

29 November 2013

Independent auditor’s report to the members 
of Intelligent Energy Holdings plc
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Group income statement

for the year ended 30 September 2013

Notes 2013 2012
£000 £000 

Revenue 7 20,846 43,852

Cost of sales (13,497) (17,760)

Gross profit 7,349 26,092

Research and development expenses (13,878) (13,326)

Administration expenses (20,159) (12,148)

Trading (loss)/profit (26,688) 618

Share of loss of joint ventures accounted for using 
the equity method – net of income tax 18

 
(2,514)

 
(1,026)

Operating loss 8 (29,202) (408)

Finance income 11a 116 77

Finance cost 11b (664) (1,031)

Gain on disposal of subsidiary 12 - 420

Loss before tax (29,750) (942)

Income tax 13 8,798 8,740

(Loss)/profit for year (20,952) 7,798

Attributable to:

Owners of the Parent (20,952) 7,394

Non‑controlling interests - 404

(20,952) 7,798
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Group statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 September 2013

2013 2012
£000 £000 

(Loss)/profit for the year (20,952) 7,798

Other comprehensive income;

Items that are or may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Exchange gain on retranslation of foreign operations 59 270

Comprehensive (expense)/income for the year (20,893) 8,068

Attributable to:

Owners of the Parent (20,893) 7,664

Non‑controlling interests - 404

(20,893) 8,068



38

Group statement of financial position

at 30 September 2013

Notes 2013 2012
£000 £000 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15 5,282 4,304

Intangible assets 16 9,455 8,762

Investments accounted for using the equity method 18 3,821 6,420

Deferred tax asset 13 9,158 6,715

27,716 26,201

Current assets 

Inventories 19 1,530 1,155

Trade and other receivables 20 13,291 6,362

Cash and cash equivalents 21 31,626 29,867

46,447 37,384

Total assets 74,163 63,585

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 22 (8,614) (9,448)

Non-current liabilities 

Deferred tax liability 13 (2,600) ‑

Liability component of convertible loan notes 23 (18,530) ‑

(21,130) ‑

Total liabilities (29,744) (9,448)

Net assets 44,419 54,137

Capital and reserves

Equity share capital 25 6,807 6,639

Share premium 94,784 93,448

Equity component of convertible loan notes 9,652 ‑

Merger reserve 29,277 29,277

Foreign currency translation reserve (254) (313)

Retained earnings (95,847) (74,914)

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 44,419 54,137

Non‑controlling interests - ‑

Total equity 44,419 54,137

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

29 November 2013. Company registered number 5104429 P. Heiden Chairman J. Maguire Director
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Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

29 November 2013. Company registered number 5104429 P. Heiden Chairman J. Maguire Director

Company statement of financial position

at 30 September 2013

Notes 2013 2012
£000 £000 

Non-current assets

Investments 18 7,857 8,653

Current assets 

Trade and other receivables 20 116,108 83,286

Cash and cash equivalents 21 1 1

116,109 83,287

Total assets 123,966 91,940

Current liabilities 

Other payables 22 (1,219) ‑

Non-current liabilities 

Deferred tax liabilities 13 (2,600) ‑

Liability component of convertible loan notes 23 (18,530) ‑

(21,130) ‑

Total liabilities (22,349) ‑

Net assets 101,617 91,940

Capital and reserves 

Equity share capital 25 6,807 6,639

Share premium  94,784 93,448

Equity component of convertible loan notes  9,652 ‑

Retained earnings  (9,626) (8,147)

Total equity attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent Company  101,617 91,940
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Group statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 September 2013

Equity share 
capital

Share 
premium

Equity 
component 

of convertible 
loan notes

Merger 
reserve

Currency 
translation 

reserve
Retained 
earnings 

Equity 
attributable 

to owners of 
the Company

Non‑
controlling 

interests Total equity

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 October 2011 5,316 54,558 691 29,277 (583) (83,099) 6,160 (404) 5,756

Total comprehensive income for the year:

Profit for the year ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ 7,394 7,394 404 7,798

Total other 
comprehensive income ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ 270 ‑ 270 ‑ 270

Transactions with owners of the Company,
recognised directly in equity:

Shares issued 647 24,746 ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ 25,393 ‑ 25,393

Share issue costs ‑ (737) ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ (737) ‑ (737)

Conversion of 
convertible bond 676 14,881 (691) ‑ ‑ 691 15,557 ‑ 15,557

Contributions by and distributions
to owners of the Company:

Share‑based payment 
transactions ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ 100 100 ‑ 100

Balance at 1 October 2012 6,639 93,448 ‑ 29,277 (313) (74,914) 54,137 ‑ 54,137

Total comprehensive
income for the year:

Loss for the year ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ (20,952) (20,952) ‑ (20,952)

Total other 
comprehensive income ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ 59 ‑ 59 ‑ 59

Transactions with owners of the Company,
recognised directly in equity:

Shares issued 168 1,336 ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ 1,504 ‑ 1,504

Issue of convertible 
loan notes ‑ ‑ 9,652 ‑ ‑ ‑ 9,652 ‑ 9,652

Contributions by and distributions
to owners of the Company:

Share‑based payment 
transactions ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑ 19 19 ‑ 19

Balance at 30 
September 2013 6,807 94,784 9,652 29,277 (254) (95,847) 44,419 - 44,419

Merger reserve

The balance classified as merger reserve relates to the 

acquisitions of Advanced Power Sources Limited and 

Intelligent Energy Limited.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record 

exchange differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.
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Company statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 September 2013

Equity share 
capital

Share 
premium

Equity 
component 

of convertible 
loan notes

Retained 
earnings Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 October 2011 5,316 54,558 691 (5,299) 55,266

Total comprehensive income for the year:

Loss for the year ‑ ‑ ‑ (3,639) (3,639)

Transactions with owners of the Company, recognised directly in equity:

Shares issued 647 24,746 ‑ ‑ 25,393

Share issue costs ‑ (737) ‑ ‑ (737)

Conversion of convertible bonds 676 14,881 (691) 691 15,557

Contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company:

Share‑based payment transactions ‑ ‑ ‑ 100 100

Balance at 1 October 2012 6,639 93,448 ‑ (8,147) 91,940

Total comprehensive income for the year:

Loss for the year ‑ ‑ ‑ (1,498) (1,498)

Transactions with owners of the Company, recognised directly in equity:

Shares issued 168 1,336 ‑ ‑ 1,504

Issue of convertible loan notes ‑ ‑ 9,652 ‑ 9,652

Contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company:

Share‑based payment transactions ‑ ‑ ‑ 19 19

Balance at 30 September 2013 6,807 94,784 9,652 (9,626) 101,617
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Group statement of cash flows

for the year ended 30 September 2013

Notes 2013 2012
£000 £000 

Operating activities

(Loss)/profit for the year (20,952) 7,798

Adjustment for taxation (8,798) (8,740)

Adjustment for net financing expense 548 954

(29,202) 12

Adjust non-cash items: 

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 15 2,806 2,003

Amortisation of intangible assets 16 481 136

Gain on disposal of subsidiary 12 - (420)

Movement in investment in joint ventures 18 2,599 1,026

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 122

Share‑based payments 27 19 100

Working capital adjustments:

Increase in inventories (375) (134)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 951 (931)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (631) 7,177

Taxation 3,261 1,480

Net cash flow from operating activities (20,091) 10,571

Investing activities 

Investment in joint ventures 18 - (6,234)

Net interest (paid)/received 11 (39) 77

Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment 15 (3,791) (5,438)

Payments to acquire intangible assets 16 (1,179) (423)

Net cash flow from investing activities (5,009) (12,018)

Financing activities 

Issue of ordinary share capital 25 1,504 24,656

Issue of convertible loan notes 25,317 ‑

Net cash flow from financing activities 26,821 24,656

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,721 23,209

Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 38 316

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 21 29,867 6,342

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end 21 31,626 29,867
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Notes 2013 2012
£000 £000 

Operating activities

Loss for the year (1,498) (3,639)

Adjustment for taxation - ‑

Adjustment for net financing expense 510 1,031

(988) (2,608)

Adjust non-cash items: 

Share‑based payments 27 19 100

Amounts written off investments - 1

Provision for impairment of investments 796 1,722

Working capital adjustments: 

Increase in trade and other receivables (27,867) (17,620)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other payables 1,219 (17)

Net cash flow from operating activities (26,821) (18,422)

Investing activities 

Investment in joint ventures 18 - (6,234)

Net cash flow from investing activities - (6,234)

Financing activities 

Issue of ordinary share capital 25 1,504 24,656

Issue of convertible loan notes 25,317 ‑

Net cash flow from financing activities 26,821 24,656

Increase in cash and cash equivalents -  1

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 21 1 1

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end 21 1 1

Company statement of cash flows

for the year ended 30 September 2013
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Notes to the annual financial statements

1 Authorisation of financial statements 
and statement of compliance with IFRS

The financial statements of Intelligent Energy Holdings 

plc and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 

30 September 2013 were authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors on 29 November 2013 and the balance sheet was 

signed on the Board’s behalf by P Heiden and J Maguire. 

Intelligent Energy Holdings plc is an unlisted public limited 

company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. 

Both the parent Company financial statements and the Group 

financial statements (together “the financial statements”) have 

been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.

2 Basis of preparation

The Group financial statements have been prepared under 

a “going concern” basis, in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 

Union as they apply to the financial statements of the Group for 

the year ended 30 September 2013 and applied in accordance 

with the Companies Act 2006.

The accounting policies which follow set out those policies 

which apply in preparing the financial statements for the year 

ended 30 September 2013 and have, unless stated otherwise, 

been applied consistently and to all periods presented in these 

financial statements. The Group financial statements have been 

prepared on a historical cost basis, except where measurement 

of balance at fair value is required, as explained below.

The financial statements are presented in Sterling and all values 

are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£000) except 

when otherwise indicated.

No separate income statement is presented for 

Intelligent Energy Holdings plc as permitted by section 408 of 

the Companies Act 2006.

2.1 Going concern

The planned commercial launch of the Consumer Electronics 

and Distributed Power and Generation divisions, together 

with the development of remote asset monitoring capabilities, 

will require Intelligent Energy to seek additional external 

funding in the current financial year. Should funding not be 

forthcoming for this continued expansion of activities, the 

Group has the option to focus only on its Motive‑related 

licensing and joint development activities. In such a scenario, 

and after making the relevant enquiries, the directors have 

a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate 

resources to continue in existence for the foreseeable future. 

For this reason, they continue to adopt the “going concern” 

basis for the preparation of the financial statements.

3 Changes in accounting 
policy and disclosures

3.1 New and amended standards and interpretations

Adoption of new and revised standards and new standards 

and interpretations not yet adopted.

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following new 

standards and interpretations:

 � Amendments to IAS1: Presentation of Items of Other 

Comprehensive Income requires that an entity presents 

separately the items of other comprehensive income that 

may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future from those 

that would never be reclassified to profit or loss.

 � Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures: Transfers of Financial 

Assets requires additional disclosures about transfers of 

financial assets, e.g. securitisations and should enable users 

to understand the possible effects of any risks that may 

remain with the transferor. The amendments also require 

additional disclosures if a disproportionate amount of 

transfer transactions are undertaken around the end of a 

reporting period.

In addition to the above, amendments to a number of 

standards under the annual improvements project to IFRS, 

which are mandatory for the year ended 30 September 2013, 

have been adopted in the year. None of these amendments 

have had a material impact on the Group’s financial 

statements.
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 � IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements outlines the 

requirements for the preparation and presentation of 

consolidated financial statements, requiring entities to 

consolidate entities it controls. Control requires exposure 

or rights to variable returns and the ability to affect those 

returns through power over an investee.

 � IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements outlines the accounting by 

entities that jointly control an arrangement. Joint control 

involves the contractual agreed sharing of control and 

arrangements subject to joint control are classified as either 

a joint venture (representing a share of net assets and equity 

accounted) or a joint operation (representing rights to assets 

and obligations for liabilities, accounted for accordingly).

 � IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities is a 

consolidated disclosure standard requiring a wide range of 

disclosures about an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint 

arrangements, associates and unconsolidated “structured 

entities”. Disclosures are presented as a series of objectives, 

with detailed guidance on satisfying those objectives.

 � IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement replaces existing guidance 

on fair value measurement in different IFRSs with a single 

definition of fair value, a framework for measuring fair 

values and disclosures about fair value measurements. This 

standard applies to assets, liabilities and an entity’s own 

equity instruments that, under other IFRSs, are required or 

permitted to be measured at fair value or when disclosure of 

fair value is provided.

 � Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures: Offsetting Financial Assets 

and Financial Liabilities sets out the disclosures required for 

financial assets and financial liabilities within the scope of 

the common disclosures.

The standard amendments that will apply in the future are 

not expected to have a significant effect on the Group or 

Company financial statements.

4 Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate the financial 

statements of Intelligent Energy Holdings plc and the entities 

it controls (its subsidiaries) and equity account the Group’s 

interest in associate and jointly controlled entities drawn up 

to 30 September each year. Subsidiaries are consolidated from 

the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the 

Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until 

the date that such control ceases. Control comprises the power 

to govern the financial and operating policies of the investee 

so as to obtain benefit from its activities and is achieved 

through direct or indirect ownership of voting rights; currently 

exercisable or convertible potential voting rights; or by way of 

contractual agreement. The financial statements of subsidiaries 

used in the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements are prepared for the same reporting year as the 

parent Company and are based on consistent accounting 

policies. All inter‑company balances and transactions, 

including unrealised profits arising from them, are eliminated.

4.1 Associates and jointly controlled entities 

(equity accounted investees)

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant 

influence, but not control, over the financial and operating 

policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the 

Group holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting power of 

another entity. Jointly controlled entities are those entities over 

whose activities the Group has joint control, established by 

contractual agreement and requiring the venturers’ unanimous 

consent for strategic financial and operating decisions. 

Associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for 

using the equity method (equity accounted investees) and are 

initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment includes 

goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated 

impairment losses. The consolidated financial statements 

include the Group’s share of the total comprehensive income 

and equity movements of equity accounted investees, from the 

date that significant influence or joint control commences until 

the date that significant influence or joint control ceases. When 

the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity 

accounted investee, the Group’s carrying amount is reduced 

to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except 

to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 

obligations or made payment on behalf of an investee.
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Notes to the annual financial statements

5 Significant accounting estimates 
and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements requires management 

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 

reported for assets and liabilities as at the statement of financial 

position date and the amounts reported for revenues and 

expenses during the year. The nature of estimation means that 

actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. The key 

sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

5.1 Contract revenues

The Group measures revenues on contracts using the stage of 

completion method, to ascertain the appropriate revenue to 

recognise during a contract. Estimating the stage of completion 

is measured by reference to the cost of labour hours and 

materials incurred as a percentage of total estimated cost of 

labour hours and materials.

5.2 Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity‑settled transactions 

with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 

instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating 

fair value requires the determination of the most appropriate 

valuation model for a grant of equity instruments, which is 

dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This 

also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the 

valuation model including the expected life of the option, 

volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about 

them. The assumptions and models used are disclosed in Note 27.

5.3 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of 

impairment for all non‑financial assets at each reporting 

date. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and at other 

times when such indicators exist. Other non‑financial assets 

are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the 

carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When value in use 

calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the 

expected future cash flows from the asset or cash‑generating 

unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 

the present value of those cash flows. Further details, including 

a sensitivity analysis of key assumptions, are given in Note 17.

5.4 Deferred tax assets

The recognition of deferred tax assets relating to the carry 

forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits requires 

the assessment of the extent to which it is probable that future 

taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax 

losses and tax credits can be utilised. Given the history of tax 

losses of the Group, it is required that there is convincing other 

evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available against 

which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be 

utilised. This requires judgement on the part of the directors. 

The directors have therefore assessed whether, in their opinion, 

the recovery of the deferred tax assets is probable, and whether 

convincing evidence exists to justify this assessment. This 

assessment is based on the forecasts for the business, which 

are in turn based in part on known advances in the commercial 

viability of the Group’s businesses. These forecasts indicate 

sufficient future UK taxable profits to utilise the accumulated 

tax losses. Accordingly the directors have concluded that the 

utilisation of the accumulated tax losses is both probable and 

supported by convincing evidence.

5.5 Operating lease commitments

The Group has entered into commercial property leases; as 

a lessee it obtains the use of property, plant and equipment. 

The classification of such leases as operating or finance lease 

requires the Group to determine, based on an evaluation of the 

terms and conditions of the arrangements, whether it retains or 

acquires the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these 

assets and accordingly whether the lease requires an asset and 

liability to be recognised in the statement of financial position.

5.6 Fair value of convertible loan notes

The Group has issued convertible loan notes. These convertible 

loan notes comprise both a liability and an equity element. The 

equity element is calculated as the net proceeds receivable after 

deducting the liability element of the convertible loan notes.

The liability element of the convertible loan notes is calculated 

by discounting the cash flows of the instruments at an interest 

rate that would be available in the market for an equivalent 

financial liability. The estimation of this interest rate requires 

judgement on the part of the directors. 
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5.7 Development costs 

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the 

accounting policy in Note 6. Initial capitalisation of costs 

is based on management’s judgment that technological 

and economical feasibility is confirmed. In determining the 

amounts to be capitalised, management makes assumptions 

regarding the expected future cash generation of the assets, 

discount rates to be applied and the expected period of 

benefits. The value of the carried amount of capitalised 

development costs at the end of the year is £nil (2012: £nil). 

6 Summary of significant 
accounting policies

The accounting policies which follow set out the significant 

policies which apply in preparing the financial statements for 

the year ended 30 September 2013.

6.1 Interest in joint ventures

The Group has a contractual agreement with Scottish and 

Southern Energy plc, which represents a joint venture. This takes 

the form of an agreement to share control of another entity, IE‑

CHP (UK & Eire) Limited. The Group has a contractual agreement 

with the Suzuki Motor Corporation, which represents a joint 

venture. This takes the form of an agreement to share control 

of another entity, SMILE FC System Corporation, a company 

incorporated in Japan. The Group has a contractual interest in 

IE‑LEV Limited which takes the form of a joint venture.

Where a joint venture is established through an interest in 

a Company, the Group recognises its interest in the entity’s 

assets and liabilities using the equity method of accounting. 

Under the equity method, the interest in the joint venture 

is carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus 

post‑acquisition changes in the Group’s share of its net assets, 

less distributions received and less any impairment in value of 

individual investments. The Group income statement reflects 

the share of the jointly controlled entity’s results after tax. The 

Group statement of recognised income and expense reflects 

the Group’s share of any income and expense recognised 

by the jointly controlled entity outside profit and loss. Any 

goodwill arising on the acquisition of a jointly controlled 

entity, representing the excess of the cost of the investment 

compared to the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 

entity’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, is 

included in the carrying amount of the jointly controlled entity 

and is not amortised. To the extent that the net fair value of the 

entity’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 

is greater than the cost of the investment, a gain is recognised 

and added to the Group’s share of the entity’s profit or loss in 

the period in which the investment is acquired. The financial 

statements of the jointly controlled entities are prepared for 

the same reporting period as the Group. Where necessary, 

adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies used 

into line with those of the Group; to take into account fair values 

assigned at the date of acquisition and to reflect impairment 

losses where appropriate. Adjustments are also made in the 

Group’s financial statements to eliminate the Group’s share of 

unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group 

and its jointly controlled entities. The Group ceases to use the 

equity method on the date from which it no longer has joint 

control over or significant influence in the joint venture. 

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an 

equity accounted investee, the Group’s carrying amount is 

reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued 

except to the extent that the Group has legal or constructive 

obligations or made payments on behalf of an investee.

6.2 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase 

method of accounting. The cost of acquisition is the 

consideration given in exchange for the identifiable net assets. 

This consideration includes any cash paid plus the fair value 

at the date of exchange of assets given, liabilities incurred or 

assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group. The 

acquired net assets are initially recognised at fair value. Where 

the Group does not acquire 100 per cent ownership of the 

acquired Company, a non‑controlling interest is recorded as the 

minority’s proportion of the fair value of the acquired net assets.

Any adjustment to the fair values is recognised within 12 

months of the acquisition date. Goodwill on acquisitions 

comprises the excess of the fair value of the consideration for 

investments in subsidiaries over the fair value of the identifiable 

net assets acquired. Any goodwill and fair value adjustments 

are recorded as assets and liabilities of the acquired Company 

for the purposes of consolidation and are recorded in the 

local currency of that Company. The costs of integrating and 
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reorganising acquired businesses are charged to the post‑

acquisition income statement.

Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

The Group’s goodwill is reviewed at each statement of financial 

position date on an annual basis, or more frequently if there 

is an indication that the goodwill is impaired, to determine 

whether events or changes in circumstances exist that indicate 

that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. If such an 

indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 

less costs to sell and value in use. An impairment loss is 

recognised in the income statement for the amount by which 

the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

6.3 Investment in subsidiaries

In its separate financial statements the Company recognises its 

investments in subsidiaries at cost. The investment is reviewed 

on an annual basis to determine whether the carrying amount 

is recoverable. In the event that the carrying amount is 

irrecoverable, provision is made to reduce the amount of the 

investment to the recoverable amount.

6.4 Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost 

comprises the aggregate amount paid and the fair value 

of any other consideration given to acquire the asset and 

includes costs directly attributable to making the asset 

capable of operating as intended. Depreciation is provided 

on all property, plant and equipment, other than land, on a 

straight‑line basis over its expected useful life as follows:

 � plant, machinery and equipment: 2 and 5 years

 � office equipment, fixtures and fittings: 3 and 4 years

Assets in the course of construction are not capitalised until 

they are fully constructed and are then transferred into 

the relevant property, plant and equipment category and 

depreciated.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are 

reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances 

indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable and are 

written down immediately to their recoverable amount. Useful 

lives and residual values are reviewed annually and where 
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adjustments are required these are made prospectively. An 

item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon 

disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 

to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss 

arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the income 

statement in the period of derecognition.

6.5 Impairment of assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there 

is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 

indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an 

asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 

recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 

higher of an asset’s or cash‑generating unit’s fair value less 

costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an 

individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 

inflows that are largely independent of those from other 

assets or groups of assets.

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 

amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 

down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre‑tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset or cash‑generating unit. Impairment 

losses on continuing operations are recognised in the income 

statement. An assessment is made at each reporting date as 

to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 

impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. 

If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. 

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if 

there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 

the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 

loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount 

of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That 

increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 

Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset 

is carried at re‑valued amount, in which case the reversal is 

treated as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal the 

depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate 

the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on 

a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
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6.6 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are 

carried initially at cost. An intangible asset acquired as part 

of a business combination is recognised outside goodwill if 

the asset is separable or arises from contractual or other legal 

rights and its fair value can be measured reliably. Intangible 

assets with a finite life have no residual value and are 

amortised on a straight‑line basis over their expected useful 

lives as follows:

 � patents: 15 years

 � development expenditure: 5 to 15 years

 � software: 4 years

Patents

Patents have been granted on intellectual property rights 

for a period of 15 years by the relevant government agencies 

in countries where patents are applied for. Each patent 

application is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 

and accumulated impairment losses. The carrying values of 

patents are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not 

be recoverable. Patent renewal fees are taken to the income 

statement in the year in which they are incurred.

Development costs

Expenditure on internally developed intangible assets, 

excluding development costs, is taken to the income 

statement in the year in which it is incurred (research costs 

are expensed as incurred). Expenditure relating to clearly 

defined and identifiable development projects is recognised 

as an intangible asset only after all the following criteria are 

met: the project’s technical feasibility and commercial viability 

can be demonstrated; the availability of adequate technical 

and financial resources and an intention to complete the 

project have been confirmed; and the correlation between 

development costs and future revenues has been established. 

Development expenditure for a new product which represents 

an entry into a new market is only recognised as an intangible 

asset from after the date that a first commercial customer 

order is received.

During the period of development, the asset is tested for 

impairment annually. Following the initial recognition 

of the development expenditure, the cost model is 

applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 

accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 

losses. Amortisation of the asset begins when development 

is complete and the asset is available for use. It is amortised 

over the period of expected future sales. During the period 

in which the assets are not yet in use they are tested for 

impairment annually.

Research and development costs have been disclosed 

separately below gross profit, as these costs are not directly 

related to sales activity.

6.7 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value. Cost includes all costs incurred in bringing each product 

to its present location and condition, as follows:

 � Raw materials, consumables and goods for resale: purchase 

cost on a first‑in, first‑out basis.

 � Work in progress and finished goods: cost of direct materials 

and labour plus attributable overheads based on a normal 

level of activity, excluding borrowing costs.

 � Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less 

any further costs expected to be incurred to completion 

and disposal. Prototypes developed for research and 

development purposes are not valued in the financial 

statements and are written off to the income statement.

6.8 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30 to 90 day terms, are 

recognised and carried at the lower of their original invoiced 

value and recoverable amount. Where the time value of 

money is material, receivables are carried at discounted cost. 

Provision is made when there is objective evidence that the 

Group will not be able to recover balances in full. Balances 

are written off when the probability of recovery is assessed as 

being less than likely.

6.9 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at cost. Trade payables are 

non‑interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms.
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6.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short‑term deposits in the statement of financial 

position comprise cash at banks and in hand and short‑term 

deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For 

the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash 

and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 

defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

6.11 Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it 

is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, 

expected future cash flows are discounted using a current 

pre‑tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific 

to the liability. Where the Group expects some or all of a 

provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised 

as a separate asset, when recovery is virtually certain. At 

this time the expense relating to any provision is presented 

in the income statement net of any reimbursement. Where 

discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to 

unwinding the discount is recognised as a finance cost.

6.12 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group 

determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 

recognition. All financial liabilities are recognised initially 

at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus 

directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and 

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses 

are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities 

are derecognised as well as through the effective interest 

rate method (EIR) amortisation process. Amortised cost is 

calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 

acquisition and fee or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. 

The EIR amortisation is included in finance cost in the income 

statement.

De-recognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset or liability is generally derecognised when the 

contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled or expires.

Compound financial instruments

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise 

convertible loan notes denominated in Sterling that can be 

converted to ordinary shares at the option of the holder, when 

the number of shares to be issued is fixed and does not vary 

with changes in fair value.

The liability component of compound financial instruments is 

initially recognised at the fair value of a similar liability that does 

not have an equity conversion option. The equity component 

is initially recognised at the difference between the fair value 

of the compound financial instruments as a whole and the 

fair value of the liability component. Any directly attributable 

transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity 

components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a 

compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method. The equity component of a 

compound financial instrument is not remeasured.

Interest related to the financial liability is recognised in profit or 

loss. On conversion, the financial liability is reclassified to equity 

and no gain or loss is recognised.

6.13 Classification of shares as debt or equity

Financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as 

equity (i.e. forming part of shareholders’ funds) only to the 

extent that they meet the following two conditions:

 � they include no contractual obligations upon the Company 

to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange 

financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under 

conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Company; 

and

 � where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s 

own equity instruments, it is either a non‑derivative that 

includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the 

Company’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that will 
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be settled by the Company exchanging a fixed amount of 

cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own 

equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of 

issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the instrument 

so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, 

the amounts presented in these financial statements for called 

up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts 

in relation to those shares.

Finance payments associated with financial liabilities are 

dealt with as part of financial expenses. Finance payments 

associated with financial instruments that are classified in 

equity are dividends, and are recorded directly in equity.

6.14 Share-based payments

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group 

receive remuneration in the form of share‑based payment 

transactions, whereby employees render services as 

consideration for equity instruments (“equity‑settled 

transactions”).

The cost of equity‑settled transactions with employees is 

measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which 

they are granted, and is recognised as an expense over the 

vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant 

employees become fully entitled to the award. The fair value is 

determined using the Black‑Scholes model, further details of 

which are given in Note 27. 

In valuing equity‑settled transactions, no account is taken of 

any service and performance (vesting conditions), other than 

performance conditions linked to the price of the shares of 

the Company (market conditions). Any other conditions which 

are required to be met in order for an employee to become 

fully entitled to an award are considered to be non‑vesting 

conditions like market performance conditions, non‑vesting 

conditions are taken into account in determining the grant 

date fair value.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately 

vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon 

a market condition or non‑market condition, which are 

treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market 

or non‑vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other 

performance or service conditions are satisfied.

At each statement of financial position date before vesting, 

the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent 

to which the vesting period has expired and management’s 

best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 

ultimately vest. The movement in cumulative expense since 

the previous statement of financial position date is recognised 

in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity.

Where the terms of an equity‑settled award are modified 

or a new award is designated as replacing a cancelled or 

settled award, the cost based on the original award terms 

continues to be recognised over the original vesting period. 

In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of 

the new vesting period for the incremental fair value of any 

modification, based on the original award and the fair value 

of the modified award, both as measured on the date of the 

modification. No reduction is recognised if this difference is 

negative.

6.15 Leases

Leases where the lessor retains a significant portion of the 

risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified 

as operating leases and rentals payable are charged in the 

income statement on a straight‑line basis over the lease term.

6.16 Foreign currency translation

The Group and parent Company financial statements are 

presented in Sterling, which is the Group’s functional and 

presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines 

its own functional currency and items included in the 

financial statements of each entity are measured using that 

functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are 

initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange 

rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 

at the functional currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the 

statement of financial position date. All differences are taken to 

the income statement. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated 

into Sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the statement 

of financial position date. Income and expense are translated 

at the date of transaction. The resulting exchange differences 

are taken directly to a separate component of equity. On 

disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount 
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recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign 

operation is recognised in the income statement. Non‑

monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 

in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 

as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non‑monetary items 

measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 

was determined. Any goodwill arising on the acquisition 

of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the 

acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 

operation and translated at the closing rate.

6.17 Revenue recognition

The Group generates revenues principally through the sale 

of hydrogen fuel cell and hydrogen generation products 

(sale of goods) and consultancy for technology and product 

advancement (rendering of services). Revenue is recognised 

to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits 

will flow to the Group and receivable revenue can be reliably 

measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, VAT and 

other sales taxes or duty. The following criteria must also be 

met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods

Fuel cell and hydrogen generation product revenue is 

recognised when the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on 

dispatch of the goods.

Licensing 

Where elements of contract revenue can be separately 

identifiable, these revenues are spread across the substantive 

delivery period for those elements. Where multiple element 

contracts are entered into and the constituent parts do not 

stand alone, all revenues are spread over the period of the 

contract.

Rendering of services

Consultancy for technology and product advancement 

revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion. 

Stage of completion is measured by reference to the cost of 

labour hours and materials incurred to date as a percentage 

of total estimated cost of labour hours and materials for each 

contract. Past experience has shown costs incurred to be the 

best measure of progress. The Group recognises materials 

revenue using the percentage‑of‑completion method over the 

contractual period. Where the contract outcome cannot be 

measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of 

the expenses recognised that are recoverable. When contracts 

are extended or combined the total consideration received 

is merged, and the revenue recognised over the full revised 

contract.

Public body funded work 

Project work is undertaken for public bodies where such work 

is of benefit to the Group’s ongoing research and development 

activities. Where amounts receivable for these projects are less 

than the anticipated costs to complete the project, no provision 

is made for future losses.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective 

interest rate basis.

Research and development tax credit

Claims for tax credits in respect of research and development 

expenditure incurred are recognised when amounts due can be 

recognised with certainty.

6.18 Income taxes

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount 

expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 

authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or 

substantively enacted by the statement of financial position 

date. Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary 

differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, 

with the following exceptions: where the temporary difference 

arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset 

or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 

that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting 

nor taxable profit or loss; in respect of taxable temporary 

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries where 

the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 

controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will 

not reverse in the foreseeable future; and deferred income tax 

assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
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temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses 

can be utilised. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 

measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are 

expected to apply when the related asset is realised or liability 

is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively 

enacted at the balance sheet date. Income tax is charged or 

credited directly to equity if it relates to items that are credited 

or charged to equity. Otherwise income tax is recognised in 

the income statement.

6.19 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a Defined Contribution scheme. This is a 

pension scheme that has an agreed contribution rate from the 

employee and employer. Contributions are known and agreed 

in advance. The scheme consists of a grouping of individual 

pension contracts. Each employee owns their own contract, 

which benefits from the discount available to the group, in 

which they can plan and save towards an optimum pension 

income in their retirement.

7 Revenue

2013 2012

£000 £000 

Licensing 8,000 37,000

Rendering of services 12,846 6,852

20,846 43,852

The activity of the Group is the commercialisation of fuel cell 

and hydrogen generation technology. 

The Company generates revenues principally through 

consultancy for technology and product advancement 

(rendering of services) and low‑volume sales of hydrogen fuel 

cell and hydrogen generation products (sale of goods) which 

comprise an immaterial amount of the Group’s revenues.

The aggregate amount of costs incurred comprise £13,497,000 

(2012: £17,760,000) with recognised profits amounting to 

£7,349,000 (2012: £26,092,000). Amounts of advances are 

included in deferred revenue below. There are no retentions in 

respect of rendering of services.

Deferred revenue 2013 2012

£000 £000 

At 1 October 1,809 279

(Decrease)/increase in deferred 
revenue during the year (815) 1,530

At 30 September 994 1,809

Deferred revenue refers to customer prepayments received on 

long‑term projects. It is included in trade and other payables 

(Note 22).

Accrued revenue 2013 2012

£000 £000 

At 1 October 3,527 2,514

(Decrease)/increase in accrued 
revenue during the year (1,881) 1,013

At 30 September 1,646 3,527

Accrued revenue relates to payments not yet received 

on long‑term projects. It is included in trade and other 

receivables (Note 20).

8 Group operating loss

2013 2012

£000 £000 

This is stated after charging: 

Research and development 
expenditure written off 13,878 13,326

Depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment 2,806 2,003

Loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment - 122

Amortisation of intangible assets 481 136

Operating lease payments – 
minimum lease payments 923 636
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9 Auditor’s remuneration

Auditor’s remuneration 2013 2012

£000 £000 

Audit of the parent Company and 
consolidated financial statements 82 45

Other services

 � Audit of subsidiaries 
pursuant to legislation 10 9

 � Audit of associates 5 6

 � Audit‑related assurance service - 50

 � Due diligence services 90 ‑

187 110

10 Staff costs and directors’ emoluments

(a) Staff costs 2013 2012

£000 £000 

Wages and salaries 15,978 13,002

Share‑based payments (Note 27) 19 100

Social security costs 2,235 1,285

Pension contributions 245 ‑

18,476 14,387

The monthly average number of employees, including 

directors, during the year was as follows:

2013 2012

Research and development 61 33

Operations and application 
engineering 238 164

Corporate and commercial 68 43

367 240

(b) Directors’ emoluments 2013 2012

£000 £000 

Emoluments 967 871

Share‑based payments 19 100

986 971

The amounts in respect of the highest paid director are as 

follows:

2013 2012

£000 £000 

Emoluments 309 299

11 (a) Finance income

2013 2012

£000 £000 

Interest receivable 116 77

11 (b) Finance cost

2013 2012

£000 £000 

Interest payable on bank overdrafts 155 74

Interest payable on 
convertible loan notes 509 957

664 1,031

12 Gain on disposal of subsidiary

There were no gains or losses arising on disposal of 

subsidiaries in the financial year (2012: £420,000).
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13 Income tax
(a) Tax charged in the consolidated income statement 2013 2012

£000 £000 

Current income tax

Research and development tax credit in respect of the current year (3,400) (545)

Foreign income tax 273 ‑

Research and development tax credit in respect of prior years (3,228) (1,480)

Total current income tax (6,355) (2,025)

Deferred tax

Adjustments to prior years 919 ‑

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (2,911) ‑

Rate change on opening deferred tax 1,416 ‑

Recognition of deferred tax assets not previously recognised (1,867) (6,715)

Total deferred tax (2,443) (6,715)

Income tax income reported in the income statement (8,798) (8,740)

(b) Factors affecting current tax charge

The tax assessed on the loss before tax for the year is lower (2012: lower) than the standard 

rate of corporation tax in the UK of 23.5% (2012: 25%). The differences are reconciled below: 2013 2012

£000 £000 

Loss before tax (29,750) (942)

Loss before tax multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax 
in the UK of 23.5% (2012: 25%) (6,991) (235)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 130 66

Non‑taxable income - (224)

Accelerated allowances - (2,644)

Tax losses not recognized - 2,492

R&D enhanced super deduction net of research and 
development tax credit in respect of current year

(195) ‑

Foreign income tax 273 ‑

Effect of share of loss of equity‑accounted investees 549 ‑

Joint venture consortium relief payment (37) ‑

Adjustments in respect of prior years net of research and 
development tax credit (2,309) (1,480)

Rate changes on deferred tax assets 1,416 ‑

Current year losses net of recognition of tax effect of previously 

unrecognised tax losses (1,634) (6,715)

(8,798) (8,740)
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(c) Deferred tax 

Group 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

attributable to the following: Assets Liabilities Net

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Decelerated/(accelerated) capital allowances - 353 (704) ‑ (704) 353

Other timing differences - ‑ (2,600) ‑ (2,600) ‑

Tax losses carried forward 9,862 6,362 - ‑ 9,862 6,362

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) 9,862 6,715 (3,304) ‑ 6,558 6,715

Offset (704) ‑ 704 ‑ - ‑

9,158 6,715 (2,600) ‑ 6,558 6,715

Movement in deferred tax balances during the year:

Balance at 
beginning 

of year

Recognised 
in income 
statement

Recognised 
in equity

Balance at 
end of year

£000 £000 £000 £000 

2013

Decelerated/(accelerated) capital allowances 353 (1,057) ‑ (704)

Other timing differences ‑ ‑ (2,600) (2,600)

Tax losses carried forward 6,362 3,500 ‑ 9,862

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) 6,715 2,443 (2,600) 6,558

2012

Decelerated capital allowances ‑ 353 ‑ 353

Tax losses carried forward ‑ 6,363 ‑ 6,362

Net deferred tax asset ‑ 6,715 ‑ 6,715

During the year, £1,867,000 (2012: £6,715,000) of previously 

unrecognised deferred tax assets were recognised as 

management now considers it probable that future taxable 

profits would be available against which they can be utilised. 

Management revised its estimates following the significant 

improvements in the prospects of its main trading subsidiary, 

Intelligent Energy Limited. 

The unrecognised deferred tax asset comprises the following:

2013 2012

£000 £000 

Losses 1,609 2,715

Other timing differences - 370

Unrecognised deferred tax asset - 3,085

There are no temporary differences associated with 

unremitted earning of foreign subsidiaries.
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(d) Amounts recognised directly in equity 

Group and Company 2013 2012

Before 
tax

Tax Net 
of tax

Before 
tax

Tax Net 
of tax

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Convertible loan notes 12,252 (2,600) 9,652 ‑ ‑ ‑

Company

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

attributable to the following: Assets Liabilities Net

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Other timing differences - ‑ (2,600) ‑ (2,600) ‑

Net deferred tax liability - ‑ (2,600) ‑ (2,600) ‑

Movement in deferred tax balances during the year:

Balance at 
beginning 

of year

Recognised 
in income 
statement

Recognised 
in equity

Balance at 
end of year

£000 £000 £000 £000 

2013

Other timing differences ‑ ‑ (2,600) (2,600)

Net deferred tax asset ‑ ‑ (2,600) (2,600)

2012

Other timing differences ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑

Net deferred tax asset ‑ ‑ ‑ ‑

(e) Factors which may affect future tax charges

The trading losses referred to above will be available for offset 

against future profits of the same trade, assuming there is no 

major change in the trade’s nature or conduct. The Company 

will continue to claim research and development tax relief 

where it is eligible to do so. Future tax charges will be affected 

by government changes to the standard rate of corporation 

tax in the UK.

Reductions in the rate to 21 per cent (effective from 1 April 

2014) and 20 per cent (effective from 1 April 2015) were 

substantively enacted on 2 July 2013.

14 Loss attributable to members 
of the parent Company

The loss of the parent Company for year ended 30 September 

2013 was £1,498,000 (2012: loss £3,639,000).

This will reduce the Company’s future current tax charge 

accordingly and further reduce the deferred tax liability at 30 

September 2013 (which has been calculated based on the rate 

of 20 per cent substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.)
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Group

Office 
equipment 

fixtures and 
fittings

Plant, 
machinery 

and 
equipment

Assets in the 
course of 

construction Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost:

At 1 October 2011  1,592  3,958 ‑ 5,550

Additions 1,546 3,387 505 5,438

Disposals (18) (301) ‑ (319)

Foreign currency adjustment (52) (46) ‑ (98)

Transfer to intangibles (1,517) ‑ (505) (2,022)

At 1 October 2012 1,551 6,998 ‑ 8,549

Additions 373 3,418 ‑ 3,791

Disposals (60) (5) ‑ (65)

Foreign currency adjustment (5) 6 ‑ 1

At 30 September 2013 1,859 10,417 ‑ 12,276

Depreciation and impairment:

At 1 October 2011 871 2,369 ‑ 3,240

Depreciation charge for the year 633 1,370 ‑ 2,003

Disposals (10) (187) ‑ (197)

Foreign currency adjustment (35) (33) ‑ (68)

Transfer to intangibles (733) ‑ ‑ (733)

At 1 October 2012 726 3,519 ‑ 4,245

Depreciation charge for the year 402 2,404 ‑ 2,806

Disposals (60) (5) ‑ (65)

Foreign currency adjustment ‑ 8 ‑ 8

At 30 September 2013 1,068 5,926 ‑ 6,994

Net book value:

At 30 September 2013 791 4,491 - 5,282

At 30 September 2012 825 3,479 ‑ 4,304

At 1 October 2011 721 1,589 ‑ 2,310

15 Property, plant and equipment
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Group Software Patents Goodwill

Assets in the 
course of 

construction Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost:

At 1 October 2011 ‑ 1,940 11,519 ‑ 13,459

Additions ‑ 423 ‑ ‑ 423

Foreign currency adjustment ‑ (43) ‑ ‑ (43)

Transfer from property, 
plant and equipment 1,517 ‑ ‑ 505 2,022

At 1 October 2012 1,517 2,320 11,519 505 15,861

Additions 299 880 ‑ ‑ 1,179

Foreign currency adjustment ‑ (6) ‑ ‑ (6)

At 30 September 2013 1,816 3,194 11,519 505 17,034

Amortisation and impairment: 

At 1 October 2011 ‑ 600 5,637 ‑ 6,237

Amortisation ‑ 136 ‑ ‑ 136

Foreign currency adjustment ‑ (7) ‑ ‑ (7)

Transfer from property, 
plant and equipment 733 ‑ ‑ ‑ 733

At 1 October 2012 733 729 5,637 ‑ 7,099

Amortisation 328 153 ‑ ‑ 481

Foreign currency adjustment ‑ (1) ‑ ‑ (1)

At 30 September 2013 1,061 881 5,637 - 7,579

Net book value: 

At 30 September 2013 755 2,313 5,882 505 9,455

At 30 September 2012 784 1,591 5,882 505 8,762

At 1 October 2011 ‑ 1,340 5,882 505 7,222

16 Intangible assets

The Group will continue to review the goodwill for impairment against the criteria set out in Note 17.
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17 Impairment testing of goodwill and other assets

Notes to the annual financial statements

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is tested 

annually for impairment. 

All other intangible assets have a defined life and are 

amortised over a fixed period. The carrying value of these 

intangible assets will be reviewed for impairment whenever 

events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value 

may not be recoverable.

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes 

into a single cash‑generating unit, as follows:

 � Air‑cooled and evaporatively‑cooled fuel cells 

(Intelligent Energy Limited)

This represents the lowest level within the Group at which 

goodwill and other intangible assets are monitored for 

internal management purposes.

Air-cooled and evaporatively-cooled fuel cells 

(Intelligent Energy Limited) cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the fuel cells unit has been 

determined based on a value in use calculation.

To calculate this, cash flow projections are based on financial 

budgets approved by the Board which cover five years. 

The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 

18.8 per cent. The long‑term growth rate applied to the cash 

flow projections after the budgeted period is 4 per cent.

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash‑

generating units:

2013 2012

£000 £000 

Intelligent Energy Limited 
cash‑generating unit 5,882 5,882

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations

The following describes each key assumption on which 

management has based its cash flow projections to undertake 

impairment testing of goodwill. The assumptions are consistent 

with prior years.

Research and development costs are based on the estimated 

investments required by the business to complete the research 

and development phases of each product line currently in 

progress. In each case senior management has estimated the 

total cost of labour, materials and capital expenditure necessary 

to start full production.

Market share assumptions have been estimated on a product 

application basis. The assumptions are based on forecast global 

demand trends. A view of the possible market share is then 

applied to the new technology introduction.

Raw material and production costs are based on estimated 

product cost curve structures. The cost curves are based on 

current raw material and production costs, synergies in mass 

production and the effect of learning during manufacture.

Discount rates reflect the estimated cost of capital. The estimated 

cost of capital is the benchmark used by management to 

access operating performance and to evaluate future capital 

investment proposals. The estimate is based on similar sized 

businesses in the industry sector with similar capital structures.

Funding. As explained in the “going concern” section (Note 2.1) 

the planned commercial launch of the Consumer Electronics 

and Distributed Power and Generation divisions, together with 

the development of remote asset monitoring capabilities, will 

require Intelligent Energy to seek additional external funding in 

the current financial year. Should funding not be forthcoming 

for this continued expansion of activities, the Group has the 

option to focus only on its Motive‑related licensing and joint 

development activities. In such a scenario, the discounted cash 

flows expected still exceed the carrying value of non‑current 

assets at the statement of financial position date.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions. There are no reasonably 

possible changes in key assumptions which would cause the 

carrying value of this unit to exceed its recoverable amount.
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18 Investments

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Subsidiary undertakings - ‑ 1,623 1,623

Joint ventures 3,821 6,420 6,234 7,030

3,821 6,420 7,857 8,653

Group Company

£000 £000

At 1 October 2011 1,212 2,518

Investment in SMILE FC System Corporation 6,234 6,234

Provision to reflect losses in JVs ‑ (1,722)

Joint venture losses (1,026) ‑

At 30 September 2012 and 1 October 2012 6,420 7,030

Provision to reflect losses in JVs (178) (796)

Joint venture losses (2,336) ‑

Unrealised profit adjustment on transactions with SMILE FC System Corporation (85) ‑

At 30 September 2013 3,821 6,234
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Subsidiary Country of 
incorporation 

Proportion of voting 
rights and shares held

Nature of business 

Intelligent Energy 

Limited 

England and Wales 100% Development and commercialisation of fuel cell based 

energy solutions 

IE India Private 

Limited

India 100% To represent Intelligent Energy plc and its Group 

companies by promoting technical/financial 

collaborations, partnerships and joint ventures between 

the Group and companies in India 

Intelligent Energy 

Inc* 

USA 100% Fuel processing system development and partnering 

activities in the USA including marketing Intelligent Energy 

fuel cell power systems in the USA

IE Japan Limited Japan 100% To represent Intelligent Energy plc and its Group 

companies by promoting technical/financial 

collaborations, partnerships and joint ventures between 

the Group and companies in Japan 

Intelligent Energy 

Holdings (Singapore) 

PTE Limited

Singapore 100% Holding company to enter contracts on Asian supply chain

(a) Subsidiary undertakings

Details of the principal trading investments at 30 September 2013 in which the Company holds 20 per cent or more of the 

nominal value of ordinary share capital are as follows:

(b) Joint ventures

 

IE-CHP (UK & Eire) Limited

On 24 March 2010, Intelligent Energy Holdings plc and SSE 

Venture Capital Limited provided interest‑free loans totalling 

£2,699,889 to the joint venture, IE‑CHP (UK & Eire) Limited. On 

the basis that Intelligent Energy Holdings plc has granted the 

joint venture a licence to exploit the technology developed 

by Intelligent Energy Holdings plc, Intelligent Energy Holdings 

plc has therefore invested £1 for every £3 invested by SSE 

Venture Capital Limited. In accordance with the above 

agreement, Intelligent Energy Holdings plc have increased 

their investment in IE‑CHP (UK & Eire) Limited by £1,350,000 

being the loan granted to IE‑CHP (UK & Eire) Limited of 

£675,000 which is convertible into 155,768 B ordinary shares 

and the grant of a licence to exploit the technology developed 

by Intelligent Energy Holdings plc of £675,000. As at 30 

September 2013, £337,500 of the loan has been converted into 

77,884 B ordinary shares, following the first tranche of the 

investment from Scottish Enterprise Venture Fund on 16 June 

2010. Intelligent Energy Holdings plc maintains a 50 per cent 

share in IE‑CHP (UK & Eire) Limited. The joint venture is a jointly 

controlled entity whose principal activity is the development 

of combined heat and power fuel cell units with integrated 

natural gas reformers. The Group accounts for its interest in 

IE‑CHP (UK & Eire) Limited using the equity method. 

* Includes indirect holdings of 100 per cent via Intelligent Energy Limited.
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The share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the 

jointly controlled entity at 30 September 2013 are as follows:

IE‑CHP (UK & Eire Limited) 2013 2012

£000 £000

Share of the joint venture’s balance sheet 

Fixed assets - 40

Current assets 184 833

Liabilities due within one year (6) (78)

CHP carrying value write down (178) ‑

Share of net assets - 795

2013 2012

£000 £000

Share of the joint venture’s results 

Revenue 84 34

Cost of sales (199) (99)

Administrative expenses (540) (354)

Operating loss for the year (655) (419)

Finance revenue 1 2

Tax 38 ‑

Loss for the year (616) (417)

Due to the ongoing losses within this joint venture the 

investment remaining in both the Group and Company 

financial statements has been impaired to £nil.

SMILE FC System Corporation

On 1 November 2011, Intelligent Energy Holdings plc and 

the Suzuki Motor Corporation subscribed for ¥750,000,000 

(£6,234,000) each representing 1,875 shares in the joint venture.

Intelligent Energy Holdings plc maintained a 50 per cent share 

in SMILE FC System Corporation. The joint venture is a jointly 

controlled entity whose principal activity is the manufacture, 

evaluation and improvement of air‑cooled fuel cells, to be 

supplied to the Suzuki Motor Corporation. The Group accounts 

for its interest in SMILE FC System Corporation under the 

equity method.

The share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the 

jointly controlled entity are as follows:

SMILE FC System Corporation 2013 2012

£000 £000

Share of the joint venture’s balance sheet 

Fixed assets 768 245

Current assets 2,045 5,342

Liabilities due within one year (85) (232)

Share of net assets 2,728 5,355

2013 2012

£000 £000

Share of the joint venture’s results

Revenue - ‑

Cost of sales - (515)

Administrative expenses (1,713) (89)

Operating loss for the year (1,713) (604)

Finance revenue - 1

Tax (7) (6)

Loss for the year (1,720) (609)

IE-LEV Limited

IE‑LEV Limited has been accounted for as a joint venture. 

The Company has a £550 investment in IE‑LEV Limited 

which in turn owns Emerald Automotive Inc, through 

an intermediate parent company. The IE‑LEV Limited 

Group has net liabilities at 30 September 2013 and 

therefore the share of net assets of this group owned 

by Intelligent Energy Holdings plc is £nil (2012: £nil).
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19 Inventories

Group

2013 2012

£000 £000 

Raw materials and consumables 1,530 1,155

The difference between the purchase price or production cost 

of stocks and their replacement cost is not material.

20 Trade and other receivables

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Trade receivables 2,284 262 - ‑

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - ‑ 111,153 83,286

Amounts owed by joint ventures 115 628 - ‑

Corporation tax recoverable 3,470 545 - ‑

Other debtors 4,955 ‑ 4,955 ‑

Prepayments and accrued income 2,467 4,927 - ‑

13,291 6,362 116,108 83,286

Total Not past due <30 days 30 to 60 days

£000 £000 £000 £000 

2013 2,284 2,190 - 94

2012 262 87 71 104

All trade receivables are denominated in Sterling.

Trade receivables are non‑interest bearing and are generally 

on 30 to 60 day terms. Due to the nature of customers the 

directors believe the risk of impairment is low and therefore 

no provision has been made. 

Other debtors comprise irrevocable undertakings to subscribe 

for convertible loan notes where the cash was not received by 

year‑end.

As at 30 September, the analysis of trade receivables that were 

past due, but not impaired is as follows:

The credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is assessed by reference to historical information 

relating to counterparty default rates.



65

These notes were issued across a period from August to 

September 2013. Interest compounds annually at 5 per cent 

and is rolled up into the value of loan notes held. The loan 

notes and accrued interest are convertible into ordinary shares 

at a total value of 39,224,600 in June 2017 at the option of the 

holders and are also available to convert at any date up to 

maturity at the option of the holder. Any unconverted notes at 

maturity become payable on demand.

21 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Bank current account 31,626 29,867 1 1

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Trade payables 1,338 3,390 - ‑ 

Accruals and deferred income 7,276 6,058 1,219 ‑

8,614 9,448 1,219 ‑

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on bank deposit 

rates. Deposits are made for varying periods dependent on the 

immediate cash requirements of the Group. The Group only deposits 

cash surpluses with major banks of high quality credit standing.

22 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at cost. Trade payables are 

non‑interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 day terms.

23 Liability component of convertible loan notes

Group and Company £000

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes (32,492,000 notes at £1 par value) 32,492

Transaction costs (2,219)

Net proceeds 30,273

Amount classified as equity (net of transaction costs of £898,000) (12,252)

Accrued interest 509

Carrying amount of liability at 30 September 2013 18,530
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24 Financial instruments

Group

Capital management

The Board considers the capital of the business to be the 

share capital and reserves of the Group. Due to the stage 

of development of the Group’s technology, the Company 

manages capital requirements through raising equity share 

capital or convertible loan notes. The requirement to raise 

equity share capital or convertible loan notes is determined by 

reference to projected cash flows that are reviewed regularly.

Risks

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is predominantly with major 

multinational original equipment manufacturing companies, 

based in Europe and Japan and hence the risk is considered to 

be low. There is no major concentration of credit risk, save for a 

significant amount of cash funds that is placed with one of the 

major UK clearing banks.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has overseas operations and has translational risk 

arising on retranslation of inter‑group balances. However, 

as the Group transacts primarily in Sterling, the exposure to 

foreign currency risk is considered to be low.

Interest rate risk

The Company and Group hold convertible loan notes. Interest 

is compounded at 5 per cent annually. As this is a fixed rate the 

interest rate risk is considered to be low.

Liquidity risk

The Group maintains adequate liquid funds to match 

contractual cashflows, with any surplus funds being placed on 

short‑term interest‑bearing deposit.

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values

The following methods and assumptions were used to 

estimate the fair values:

Inventories, trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, 

income tax receivable and trade payables approximate their 

carrying amounts largely due to the short‑term maturities of 

these instruments. The fair value of the liability element of the 

convertible loan notes is estimated by discounting future cash 

flows using rates estimated to be those which were available 

at the year‑end for debt on similar terms.

The following tables show the carrying amounts and fair 

values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including 

their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair 

value information for financial assets and financial liabilities 

not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a 

reasonable approximation of fair value.

30 September 2013 Carrying amount

Loans and 
receivables

Other financial 
liabilities

Total

£000 £000 £000 

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Trade and other receivables 2,284 ‑ 2,284

Cash and cash equivalents 31,626 ‑ 31,626

33,910 ‑ 33,910

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value 

Trade payables ‑ (1,338) (1,338)

Convertible notes – liability component ‑ (18,530) (18,530)

‑ (19,868) (19,868)

The book value of the financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value is in all cases considered to be fair value.



67

30 September 2013 Contractual cash flows

Carrying 
amount

On demand Less than 
3 months

2 to 5 years Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Trade payables 1,338 ‑ (1,338) ‑ (1,338)

Convertible notes 18,530 ‑ ‑ (39,224) (39,224)

19,868 ‑ (1,338) (39,224) (40,562)

30 September 2012 Contractual cash flows

Carrying 
amount

On demand Less than 
3 months

2 to 5 years Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Trade payables 3,390 ‑ (3,390) ‑ (3,390)

3,390 ‑ (3,390) ‑ (3,390)

30 September 2012 Carrying amount

Loans and 
receivables

Other financial 
liabilities

Total

£000 £000 £000 

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Trade and other receivables 890 ‑ 890

Cash and cash equivalents 29,867 ‑ 29,867

30,757 ‑ 30,757

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value 

Trade payables ‑ (3,390) (3,390)

‑ (3,390) (3,390)

The book value of the financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value is in all cases considered to be fair value.

(b) Liquidity risk

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of 

financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are 

gross and undiscounted, and include estimated interest 

payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements.
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Company

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values

The following tables show the carrying amounts and fair 

values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including 

their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair 

value information for financial assets and financial liabilities 

not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a 

reasonable approximation of fair value.

Notes to the annual financial statements

30 September 2013 Carrying amount

Loans and 
receivables

Other financial 
liabilities

Total

£000 £000 £000 

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Trade and other receivables 116,108 ‑ 116,108

Cash and cash equivalents 1 ‑ 1

116,109 ‑ 116,109

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value 

Convertible notes – liability component ‑ (18,530) (18,530)

‑ (18,530) (18,530)

30 September 2012 Carrying amount

Loans and 
receivables

Other financial 
liabilities

Total

£000 £000 £000 

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Trade and other receivables 83,286 ‑ 83,286

Cash and cash equivalents 1 ‑ 1

83,287 ‑ 83,287

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value 

Convertible notes – liability component ‑ ‑ -

‑ ‑ -

The book value of the financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value is in all cases considered to be fair value.

The book value of the financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value is in all cases considered to be fair value.
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(b) Liquidity risk

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of 

financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are 

gross and undiscounted, and include estimated interest 

payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements.

30 September 2013 Contractual cash flows

Carrying 
amount

On demand Less than 
3 months

2 to 5 years Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Convertible notes 18,530 ‑ ‑ (39,224) (39,224)

18,530 ‑ ‑ (39,224) (39,224)

30 September 2012 Contractual cash flows

Carrying 
amount

On demand Less than 
3 months

2 to 5 years Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Convertible notes - ‑ ‑ ‑ -

- ‑ ‑ ‑ -

25 Authorised and issued share capital

Issued, called up and fully paid 2013 2012

£000 £000 

— number 136,129 132,779

— £ 6,807 6,639

Holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends and 

other distributions and to attend and vote at any general meeting.

Shares were allotted during the period since 1 October 2012 as follows:

Shares of 5p each

000 

Exercise of share options 3,350

3,350

This issue generated funds of £1,504,000 for the business.
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26 Reserves

Equity share capital

The balance classified as share capital relates to the nominal 

value of shares on issue of the Company’s equity share capital, 

comprising 5p ordinary shares.

Share premium

The balance classified as share premium relates to the 

aggregate net proceeds less nominal value of shares on issue 

of the Company’s equity share capital.

Merger reserve

The balance classified as other reserves relates to the 

acquisitions of Advanced Power Sources Limited and 

Intelligent Energy Limited, as recommended by section 612 of 

the Companies Act 2006.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record 

exchange differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

Equity component of convertible loan notes

During the year the Company issued convertible loan 

notes (see Note 23). These loan notes have both equity and 

liability elements. The liability element has been calculated 

as described in Notes 23 and 24. The convertible loan note 

proceeds, after deducting the liability element, is deemed to 

be the equity element and has been accounted for in reserves.

27 Share‑based payment plans

An expense of £19,160 (2012: £100,000), wholly relating to 

equity‑settled share‑based payment transactions, was 

recognised during the year. The Company has not undertaken 

any cash‑settled share‑based payment transactions.

The share‑based payment plans are described below.

Type 1

The exercise price of the options are fixed and determined 

on the date of the grant. The option holders have the option 

to purchase ordinary shares at the option price between the 

exercise dates. The fair value of the options is estimated at the 

grant date using a Black‑Scholes model, taking into account 

the terms and conditions upon which the options were 

granted. The contractual life of each option granted is varied. 

There are no cash settlement alternatives.

Type 2

The exercise price of the options are fixed and determined 

on the date of the grant. The option holders have the option 

to purchase ordinary shares at the option price between the 

exercise dates, subject to specified performance criteria being 

met. The fair value of the options is estimated at the grant 

date using a Black‑Scholes model, taking into account the 

terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 

The contractual life of each option granted is varied. There are 

no cash settlement alternatives.

Movements in the year

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted 

average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share 

options during the year:

2013 No. 2013 WAEP 
pence

2012 No. 2012 WAEP 
pence

Outstanding at 1 October 8,087,059 69 10,949,309 63

Granted during the year - - ‑ ‑

Exercised during the year (3,375,430) 45 (2,576,000) 45

Expired during the year (986,250) 52 (286,250) 45

Outstanding at 30 September 3,725,379 96 8,087,059 69

Exercisable at 30 September 3,610,379 95 7,500,809 66
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At 30 September 2013, the weighted average remaining 

contractual life for the share options outstanding is 1.52 years 

(2012: 1.63 years).

At 30 September 2013, 3,725,379 (2012: 8,113,308) options were 

outstanding at a weighted average share price of 96p (2012: 

69p).

There were no options granted in the current or prior year. 

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at 

the end of the year was 80p to 150p (2012: 40p to 150p).

Included within the outstanding balance are options of 

nil (2012: 545,000) shares that have not been recognised in 

accordance with IFRS 2 share‑based payment as the options 

were granted on or before 7 November 2002. The Group 

has taken advantage of the exemption in IFRS 1 in respect 

of equity‑settled awards so as to apply IFRS 2 only to those 

equity‑settled awards granted after 7 November 2002.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the 

share‑based payment plan for the year ended 30 September 

2011 which was the most recent issue:

Dividend yield (%) ‑

Expected volatility (%) 40%

Risk–free interest rate (%) 0.77%

Expected life of option (years) 2 to 8.5

Weighted average share price (£) 1.00

Model used: Black‑Scholes

The expected life of the options is based on historical data 

and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may 

occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the 

historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may 

also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

The share‑based payment scheme is equity‑settled and the 

fair value is measured at the grant date.

28 Commitments and contingencies

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on several 

properties, and items of office and laboratory equipment. 

These leases have an average duration of between less than 

one year and five years. The property leases all contain an 

option for renewal, with such options being exercisable before 

the expiry of the lease term at rentals based on market prices 

at the time of exercise. There are no restrictions placed upon 

the lessee by entering into these leases.

Future minimum rentals payable under non‑cancellable 

operating leases as at 30 September are as follows:

2013 2012

£000 £000 

Within one year 902 794

After one year but not 
more than five years 264 939

1,166 1,733

During the period, £923,000 (2012: £636,000) was recognised 

as a lease expense. This was made up of minimum lease 

payments for equipment of £212,000 (2012: £17,000) and for 

rent of £711,000 (2012: £619,000).

29 Off‑statement of financial 
position arrangements

The Group enters into operating lease arrangements for 

the hire of buildings and plant and equipment; these 

arrangements are a cost‑effective way of obtaining the short‑

term benefit of these assets. There are no other material off‑

statement of financial position arrangements.
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30 Related‑party transactions

Group and Company

During the year the Group and Company entered into 

transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other 

related parties being subsidiary companies. Transactions 

entered into, and trading balances outstanding at 30 

September with other related parties, are as follows:

Sales to 
related party

Purchases from 
related party

Amounts owed 
by related party

Amounts owed 
to related party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Subsidiaries – Company

Intelligent Energy Ltd, Intelligent Energy 
(Pty) Limited and IE India Private Ltd

2013 - - 111,153 -

2012 ‑ ‑ 111,153 ‑

Joint ventures – Group and Company 
IE‑CHP (UK & Eire) Limited, SMILE FC System 
Corporation and IE‑LEV Limited

2013 300 - 115 -

2012 1,378 ‑ 115 ‑

The amount owed by related‑party subsidiaries refers to the 

intercompany debt with Intelligent Energy Limited. The sales 

and amounts owed by related‑party joint ventures refers to 

the development contract signed with IE‑CHP (UK & Eire) 

Limited and SMILE FC System Corporation.

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The related party transactions were made on terms equivalent 

to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. Key 

management personnel are deemed to be the directors of the 

Company. The disclosure of transactions with the directors can 

be seen in Note 10.

Intelligent Energy Holdings plc, a Company registered in 

England Wales, is the ultimate parent entity and controlling 

party in the Group.
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